
   

 
 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
MEETING OF THE PERSONNEL BOARD 

*** NEW LOCATION *** 
1301 Shattuck Avenue  

Live Oak Community Center, Fireside Room 
Berkeley, CA  94704 

DATE:  August 7, 2023     TIME:  7:00 P.M. 
 

Secretary:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Human Resources Department 
2180 Milvia Street, First Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704 
(510) 981-6800   E-mail: akouyoumdjian@cityofberkeley.info  

 
 
THIS MEETING IS BEING HELD IN A WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE LOCATION. TO REQUEST A DISABILITY-RELATED 
ACCOMMODATION(S) TO PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING, INCLUDING AUXILIARY AIDS OR SERVICES, PLEASE CONTACT THE 
DISABILITY SERVICES SPECIALIST AT 981-6418 (V) OR 981-6347 (TDD) AT LEAST THREE BUSINESS DAYS BEFORE THE MEETING 
DATE. PLEASE REFRAIN FROM WEARING SCENTED PRODUCTS TO THIS MEETING. To submit an e-mail comment during the 
meeting to be read aloud during public comment, email jelewis@cityofberkeley.info with the Subject Line in this format: 
“PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM ##.” Please observe a 150 word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply 
 
 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Roll Call 
 

III. Public Comment 
 

ACTION ITEMS: 
 
IV. Approval of Minutes of Meeting on July 10, 2023 

 
V. Request for Extension of Temporary Appointments in Health, Housing, and Community 

Services Department (Senior Development Project Coordinator Jenny Wyant, Assistant 
Management Analyst Tahira Warner, Senior Management Analyst Rhianna Babka, Community 
Service Specialist III Joshua Oehler, and Community Development Project Coordinator Emily 
Rose) 
 

VI. Recommendation to Amend Health Educator Job Class Specification 
  

VII. Recommendation to Amend Senior Field Representative Job Class Specification 
 

VIII. Recommendation to Amend Paramedic Salary Range 
 
 
INFORMATION ITEMS:   
 

IX. Presentation by City Auditor – Staff Retention Audit – Discussion Only 
 

X. Director’s Report – Updates from HR Director – Discussion Only 
 

XI. Copy of Berkeley Matters – Discussion Only 
 

XII. Adjournment 
 

If you are unable to attend a meeting please call 510-981-6812 

mailto:akouyoumdjian@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:jelewis@cityofberkeley.info


   
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through 
the City’s website.  Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication 
to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to 
be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or committee.  If you do 
not want your contact information included in the public record, please do not include that information in your communication.  Please contact the secretary to the 
relevant board, commission or committee for further information.  SB 343 Disclaimer:  Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding 
any item on this agenda will be made available for public inspection at the Human Resources Department located at 2180 Milvia Street, First Floor, Berkeley CA. 
 
 
 



   
 

 
 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
MEETING OF THE PERSONNEL BOARD 

*** NEW LOCATION *** 
1301 Shattuck Avenue  

Live Oak Community Center, Fireside Room 
Berkeley, CA  94704 

DATE:  July 10, 2023     TIME:  7:00 P.M. 
 

Secretary:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Human Resources Department 
2180 Milvia Street, First Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704 
(510) 981-6800   E-mail: akouyoumdjian@cityofberkeley.info 

 
 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
 

I. Call to Order 7:03 P.M. 
 

II. Roll Call 
 
Members Present: Robert Dixon (Chair), Maya Karpinski, Mary Kay Lacey, Nic O’Loughlin 

 
Members Absent: Aviva Gilbert (Vice Chair), Darryl Bartlow, Jenny Wenk  
 
Staff Present: Aram Kouyoumdjian (Director of Human Resources); Monica Walker 

(Human Resources Manager); Jessica Lewis (Human Resources); Joy 
Brown (PW Operations Manager); Hamid Mostowfi (Acting Transportation 
Manager); Danette Perry (Parking Services Manager); Janice Chin 
(Manger of Public Health Services); Monique Sims (HHCS) 

 
Public Attendance: None 
 

III. Public Comments 
  

Cordell Hindler: “For a future agenda, the personnel board should consider hosting a 
retreat to go over the goals for the remainder of 2023. Also, I am in fill [sic] support of 
the items on the agenda.” 
 
 

ACTION ITEMS: 
 

IV. Approval of Minutes of Meeting on June 5, 2023 
 
Action:  MSC: (Lacey/Dixon) to approve the minutes of the meeting on June 5, 2023. 
 
Vote: Ayes:   Dixon, Lacey, O’Loughlin 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 

Absent: Bartlow, Gilbert, Karpinski (Late), Wenk  
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:akouyoumdjian@cityofberkeley.info


   
V. Recommendation to Amend Electrical Supervisor and Communications Supervisor Job Class 

Specifications 
 

Action:  MSC: (Dixon/ O’Loughlin) to approve the Recommendation to Amend Electrical 
Supervisor and Communications Supervisor Job Class Specifications 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Dixon, Lacey, O’Loughlin 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Bartlow, Gilbert, Karpinski (Late), Wenk  
 
VI. Recommendation to Amend Parking Services Manager Job Class Specification 

 
Action:  MSC: (Lacey/O’Loughlin) to approve the Recommendation to Amend Parking 
Services Manager Job Class Specification 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Dixon, Karpinski, Lacey, O’Loughlin 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Bartlow, Gilbert, Wenk 
 
VII. Recommendation to Establish Lactation Counselor Job Class Specification and Salary Range 

 
Action:  MSC: (Dixon/Lacey) to approve the Recommendation to Establish Lactation 
Counselor Job Class Specification and Salary Range 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Dixon, Karpinski, Lacey, O’Loughlin 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Bartlow, Gilbert, Wenk 
 

VIII. Revisions to the Unrepresented Employee Manual 
 

IX. Action:  MSC: (Dixon/Karpinski) to approve the Revisions to the Unrepresented Employee 
Manual 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Dixon, Karpinski, Lacey, O’Loughlin  
           Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Bartlow, Gilbert, Wenk 
 

INFORMATION ITEMS:   
 

X. Director’s Report – Updates from HR Director – Discussion Only 
 

XI. Copy of Berkeley Matters – Discussion Only 
 
XII. Adjournment               7:48 PM 

 
 

 



   

 

Human Resources 
 
 
Date:  August 7, 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Board 
 
From: Aram Kouyoumdjian, Director of Human Resources 
 
Subject: Request for Extension of Temporary Appointments in the Health, Housing, and 

Community Services Department (Senior Development Project Coordinator Jenny Wyant, 
Assistant Management Analyst Tahira Warner, Senior Management Analyst Rhianna 
Babka, Community Service Specialist III Joshua Oehler, and Community Development 
Project Coordinator Emily Rose) 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The City of Berkeley Human Resources Department and the Health, Housing, and Community Services 
(HHCS) Department request a six-month extension of the temporary appointments of Senior 
Development Project Coordinator Jenny Wyant, Assistant Management Analyst Tahira Warner, Senior 
Management Analyst Rhianna Babka, Community Service Specialist III Joshua Oehler, and Community 
Development Project Coordinator Emily Rose. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
These temporary positions were added to the Housing and Community Services division while a 
comprehensive study was being done on staffing levels, and three of them were previously presented to 
the Personnel Board in May 2023 for extension. New permanent positions have been approved by City 
Council in the amended fiscal year 2023-24 budget. HHCS and Human Resources seek authorization to 
extend the temporary vacancies while the official exam and selection processes are being conducted to 
fill the career vacancies. 
 
SALARY 
 
The fiscal impact for six months at each position is the difference between the employees’ existing career 
positions and temporary positions, as well as one employee serving in a temporary role only, and will be 
covered through special funding sources including grants. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Personnel Board is requested to approve the six-month extension of the temporary appointments of 
the Health, Housing, and Community Services Department employees as outlined below: 
  



   

EMPLOYEE 
NAME 

CLASSIFICATION NOTES TEMPORARY 
ASSIGNMENT 
START DATE 
#1 

TEMPORARY 
ASSIGNMENT 
END DATE #1 

TEMPORARY 
ASSIGNMENT 
END DATE #2 

TEMPORARY 
ASSIGNMENT 
END DATE #3 

NEW 
TEMPORARY 
ASSIGNMENT 
END DATE 

Jenny Wyant Senior Community 
Development Project 
Coordinator 

  09/19/21 03/19/22 09/19/22 03/19/23 09/19/23 

Tahira Warner Assistant 
Management Analyst 

  01/23/23 07/23/23 N/A N/A 01/23/24 

Rhianna Babka Senior Management 
Analyst 

  03/20/22 09/20/22 03/20/23 09/20/23 03/20/24 

Joshua Oehler Community Services 
Specialist III (CSSIII) 

Backfilling for 
Rhianna 
Babka 
serving in the 
Senior 
Management 
Analyst role. 

10/16/22 04/16/23 N/A N/A 10/16/23 

Emily Rose Community 
Development Project 
Coordinator 

Backfilling for 
Joshua 
Oehler 
serving in the 
CSSIII role. 

03/20/23 09/20/23 N/A N/A 03/20/24 

 
 
cc: Monica Walker, Human Resources Manager 
 



   
   

 

 
Human Resources 
 
Date:  August 7, 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Board 
 
From:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Director of Human Resources 
 
Subject:  Recommendation to Amend Health Educator Job Class Specification 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The City of Berkeley Human Resources Department and Health, Housing, and Community Services 
(HHCS) Department seek to amend the Health Educator job class specification to reflect updated 
responsibilities and address health education needs within the community. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Two Health Educator positions will be supported by grants. The first position will be funded by Alameda 
County Measure A, which provides additional financial support for a variety of public health services to 
indigent, low-income, and uninsured adults, children, families, seniors, and other residents of Alameda 
County. Under this grant, the first Health Educator position will support schools, students, and their 
families manage physical health conditions in an effort to improve school attendance. In this role, the 
Health Educator will have the responsibility of managing, reviewing, and overseeing the development of 
community health education materials, as well as provide supervision and guidance for outreach workers 
to ensure that community outreach, education activities, and workshops and materials incorporate adult 
learning techniques, community assessment information, culturally competent content, and evaluation. 

The second Health Educator position will be funded by the State of California Immunization Program and 
Alameda County Measure A. This position will have the responsibility of serving as a community health 
educator to support building community awareness and promotion of immunizations. 

The proposed changes to the job class specification expand upon the existing supervisory responsibilities 
over interns to also include overseeing the work of professional, paraprofessional, and clerical personnel; 
in addition, the typical qualifications have been lowered from a master’s degree to a bachelor’s degree 
with coursework and experience in community health, and desirable certification as a Certified Health 
Educator Specialist (CHES). 

SALARY 
 
There is no salary impact. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Personnel Board is requested to approve the following: Amend job class specification of Health 
Educator as outlined. 



   

ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Organizational Chart – Health, Housing, and Community Services (Public Health Division) 
2. Job Class Specification with Proposed Revisions – Health Educator 
 

 
cc: Monica Walker, Human Resources Manager 
 
 
 

 

 

  



   

Attachment 1. Organizational Chart – Health, Housing, and Community Services (Public Health Division) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Internal 

 

Health Educator 
 

Bargaining Unit: Service Employees 
International Union, Local 1021 (Comm Svcs 

& PT Rec Leaders) 

Class Code: 
2110 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
Established Date: Oct 9, 2008 
Revision Date: Oct 9, 2008August 7, 2023 

SALARY RANGE 
$45.68 - $53.25 Hourly 

$3,654.40 - $4,260.00 Biweekly 
$7,917.87 - $9,230.00 Monthly 

$95,014.40 - $110,760.00 Annually 

  

 

DESCRIPTION: 
DEFINITION 
 
Under general supervision, plans and conducts special and continuing health education 
programs; performs related work as assigned. 
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This professional-level class performs a wide variety of health education planning and program 
development activities for the Public Health Division of the Health and Human Services 
Department. Incumbents have division-wide responsibilities that include developing and 
evaluating health education training programs; planning and implementing communication 
plans; and supervise the activities of professional, paraprofessional, and clerical personnel.; and 
coordinating public health preparedness educational programs. Incumbents may serve as a 
public information officer. Incumbents are expected to exercise independent judgment in the 
performance of duties; to use effective leadership strategies when providing consultation and 
training to division program staff; and to assist administrative and supervisory personnel in 
planning and evaluating departmental programs. 
 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 
The following list of duties is intended only to describe the various types of work that may be 
performed and the level of technical complexity of the assignment(s) and is not intended to be 
an all-inclusive list of duties. The omission of a specific duty statement does not exclude it from 
the position if the work is consistent with the concept of the classification, or is similar or closely 
related to another duty statement. 
 
1. Plans, implements and evaluates public health education and disease prevention programs 



Internal 

curriculum and materials; 
 
2. Works with various community groups and organizations to encourage an interest in public 
health; 
 
3. Advises departmental personnel on the use of educational materials and techniques and the 
use of community resources; 
 
4. Organizes special health education programs, conferences, meetings and speaker's bureaus 
on health topics; 
 
5. Represents the City in contacts with the media, and a variety of community and professional 
organizations; may serve a public information officer for the division, and may act as secretary to 
the Community Health commission; 
 
6. Prepares and implements health education plans, and publicity materials including website 
content, news releases, pamphlets, newsletters and bulletins to publicize and explain health 
services and programs including risk communication and public health preparedness activities; 
 
7. Plans, and conducts a variety of health training programs, including but not limited to public 
health preparedness, communication/media relations, and coordinates community engagement 
activities; 
 
8. Reviews published materials for readability and suitability for the department's acquisition and 
maintains a stock of educational materials for distribution; 
 
9. Prepares and maintains reports and other documentation of health education program 
activities; 
 
10. Maintains current knowledge of health education topics and issues and recommends 
improvements as appropriate; 
 
11. Supervises student interns in the completion of specific goals and objectives within specific 
program areas; and may supervise the activities of professional, paraprofessional, and clerical 
personnel, provide for in-service training or orientation, and evaluate work performance. 
 
12. Performs related duties as assigned. 
 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 
NOTE: The level and scope of the knowledge and skills listed below are related to job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics. 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
1. Principles and practices of public health administration particularly related to public health 
education program planning, implementation and teaching; 
 
2. Principles and practices of program development and implementation, including strategic 



Internal 

planning, funding, grant writing and editing, program evaluation and budget monitoring; 
 
3. Applicable city, state and federal guidelines and laws affecting public health education 
programs; 
 
4. Methods and procedures for evaluating program quality and effectiveness; 
 
5. Methods for collecting and compiling demographic and biostatistical information and data; 
 
6. Chronic diseases and disease prevention methods, and community education needs; and 
 
7. Methods of mass communication such as website content, newspapers, radio, television and 
use of graph arts. 
 
8. “Eight Areas of Responsibility” of Health Education Specialists (HESPA) 
 
Ability to: 
 
1. Develop, implement and conduct public health education programs; 
 
2. Utilize demographic and biostatistical data and information to evaluate community health 
education needs; 
 
3. Exercise sound independent judgment within general policy guidelines; 
 
4. Identify program funding sources and preparation of grant proposal applications; 
 
5. Evaluate the effectiveness of public health education programs and make sound 
recommendations for improvements; 
 
6. Represent the City in contacts with the media, City officials, community and other agencies 
and the public; 
 
7. Prepare clear, concise and complete reports and other written correspondence; 
 
8. Establish and maintain effective relationships with City and departmental staff, community 
agencies and the public.Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those 
contacted in the course of work; communicate effectively with staff, elected officials, and 
community members 
 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 
MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS 
 
A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS OUTLINED ABOVE IS: 
 
Completion of a master's degree with specialization in public or community health education 
awarded upon completion of a program of study accredited by the American Public Health 
Association. . In addition, one (1) year of professional experience in health education is required. 



Internal 

Possession of a bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with major 
coursework in public health or related field, and two years of community health education 
experience. Certified Health Education Specialist (CHES) and one year of supervisory 
experience desirable. Certified Health Education Specialist (CHES can be substituted for one 
year of community health education experience. 
 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
Must be able to travel to various locations within and outside the City of Berkeley to meet the 
program needs and to fulfill the job responsibilities. When driving on City business, the 
incumbent is required to maintain a valid California driver's license as well as a satisfactory 
driving record. 
 

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY: 
Health Educator 
Classification Code: 2491 
Classification Established: 12/1988 
Classification Revised: 1/1994 
Classification Revised: 5/2008 
Classification Revised: 06/2023 
FLSA Status: Non Exempt 
Administrative Leave/Overtime: OvertimeAdministrative Leave 
Representation Unit : G-1 
Probationary Period: 6 Months 
Workers' Compensation Code: 8810 

 



Internal 

 

 

Health Educator 
 

Bargaining Unit: Service Employees 

International Union, Local 1021 (Comm Svcs 

& PT Rec Leaders) 

Class Code: 

2110 

CITY OF BERKELEY 

Established Date: Oct 9, 2008 

Revision Date: Oct 9, 2008August 7, 2023 

SALARY RANGE 
$45.68 - $53.25 Hourly 

$3,654.40 - $4,260.00 Biweekly 

$7,917.87 - $9,230.00 Monthly 

$95,014.40 - $110,760.00 Annually 

  

 

DESCRIPTION: 

DEFINITION 
 
Under general supervision, plans and conducts special and continuing health education 
programs; performs related work as assigned. 
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This professional-level class performs a wide variety of health education planning and program 
development activities for the Public Health Division of the Health and Human Services 
Department. Incumbents have division-wide responsibilities that include developing and 
evaluating health education training programs; planning and implementing communication 
plans; and supervise the activities of professional, paraprofessional, and clerical personnel.; and 
coordinating public health preparedness educational programs. Incumbents may serve as a 
public information officer. Incumbents are expected to exercise independent judgment in the 
performance of duties; to use effective leadership strategies when providing consultation and 
training to division program staff; and to assist administrative and supervisory personnel in 
planning and evaluating departmental programs. 
 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 

The following list of duties is intended only to describe the various types of work that may be 
performed and the level of technical complexity of the assignment(s) and is not intended to be 
an all-inclusive list of duties. The omission of a specific duty statement does not exclude it from 
the position if the work is consistent with the concept of the classification, or is similar or closely 
related to another duty statement. 
 
1. Plans, implements and evaluates public health education and disease prevention programs 



Internal 

 

curriculum and materials; 
 
2. Works with various community groups and organizations to encourage an interest in public 
health; 
 
3. Advises departmental personnel on the use of educational materials and techniques and the 
use of community resources; 
 
4. Organizes special health education programs, conferences, meetings and speaker's bureaus 
on health topics; 
 
5. Represents the City in contacts with the media, and a variety of community and professional 
organizations; may serve a public information officer for the division, and may act as secretary to 
the Community Health commission; 
 
6. Prepares and implements health education plans, and publicity materials including website 
content, news releases, pamphlets, newsletters and bulletins to publicize and explain health 
services and programs including risk communication and public health preparedness activities; 
 
7. Plans, and conducts a variety of health training programs, including but not limited to public 
health preparedness, communication/media relations, and coordinates community engagement 
activities; 
 
8. Reviews published materials for readability and suitability for the department's acquisition and 
maintains a stock of educational materials for distribution; 
 
9. Prepares and maintains reports and other documentation of health education program 
activities; 
 
10. Maintains current knowledge of health education topics and issues and recommends 
improvements as appropriate; 
 
11. Supervises student interns in the completion of specific goals and objectives within specific 
program areas; and may supervise the activities of professional, paraprofessional, and clerical 
personnel, provide for in-service training or orientation, and evaluate work performance. 
 
12. Performs related duties as assigned. 
 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 

NOTE: The level and scope of the knowledge and skills listed below are related to job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics. 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
1. Principles and practices of public health administration particularly related to public health 
education program planning, implementation and teaching; 
 
2. Principles and practices of program development and implementation, including strategic 



Internal 

 

planning, funding, grant writing and editing, program evaluation and budget monitoring; 
 
3. Applicable city, state and federal guidelines and laws affecting public health education 
programs; 
 
4. Methods and procedures for evaluating program quality and effectiveness; 
 
5. Methods for collecting and compiling demographic and biostatistical information and data; 
 
6. Chronic diseases and disease prevention methods, and community education needs; and 
 
7. Methods of mass communication such as website content, newspapers, radio, television and 
use of graph arts. 
 
8. “Eight Areas of Responsibility” of Health Education Specialists (HESPA) 
 
Ability to: 
 
1. Develop, implement and conduct public health education programs; 
 
2. Utilize demographic and biostatistical data and information to evaluate community health 
education needs; 
 
3. Exercise sound independent judgment within general policy guidelines; 
 
4. Identify program funding sources and preparation of grant proposal applications; 
 
5. Evaluate the effectiveness of public health education programs and make sound 
recommendations for improvements; 
 
6. Represent the City in contacts with the media, City officials, community and other agencies 
and the public; 
 
7. Prepare clear, concise and complete reports and other written correspondence; 
 
8. Establish and maintain effective relationships with City and departmental staff, community 
agencies and the public.Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those 
contacted in the course of work; communicate effectively with staff, elected officials, and 
community members 
 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS 
 
A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS OUTLINED ABOVE IS: 
 
Completion of a master's degree with specialization in public or community health education 
awarded upon completion of a program of study accredited by the American Public Health 
Association. . In addition, one (1) year of professional experience in health education is required. 



Internal 

 

Possession of a bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with major 
coursework in public health or related field, and two years of community health education 
experience. Certified Health Education Specialist (CHES) and one year of supervisory 
experience desirable. Certified Health Education Specialist (CHES can be substituted for one 
year of community health education experience. 
 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
Must be able to travel to various locations within and outside the City of Berkeley to meet the 
program needs and to fulfill the job responsibilities. When driving on City business, the 
incumbent is required to maintain a valid California driver's license as well as a satisfactory 
driving record. 
 

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY: 

Health Educator 
Classification Code: 2491 
Classification Established: 12/1988 
Classification Revised: 1/1994 
Classification Revised: 5/2008 
Classification Revised: 06/2023 
FLSA Status: Non Exempt 
Administrative Leave/Overtime: OvertimeAdministrative Leave 
Representation Unit : G-1 
Probationary Period: 6 Months 
Workers' Compensation Code: 8810 

 



   
   

 

 
Human Resources 
 
Date:  August 7, 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Board 
 
From:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Director of Human Resources 
 
Subject:  Recommendation to Amend Senior Field Representative Job Class Specification 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The City of Berkeley Human Resources Department, Public Works Department, and Finance Department 
seek to amend the Senior Field Representative job class specification to match the last set of revisions 
that were made to the Field Representative job class specification. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The Senior Field Representative classification performs advanced, lead-level work over the Field 
Representative classification. Originally, the work of both classifications centered around collections of 
the City’s accounts receivables, including investigating unpaid accounts and communicating with 
customers. In the last few years, revisions were made to the Field Representative job classification to 
include the evolution of job duties surrounding revenue-generating activities and community outreach in 
the recycling program; however, similar revisions were not made to the Senior Field Representative job 
class specification. 
 
The proposed revisions include lead direction and complex work related to the additional duties that were 
added to the Field Representative position, including leading investigations and audits, education and 
promotion activities, and revenue-generating activities. 
 
SALARY 
 
There is no salary impact. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Personnel Board is requested to approve the following: Amend job class specification of Senior Field 
Representative as outlined. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Job Class Specification with Proposed Revisions – Senior Field Representative 
2. Job Class Specification – Field Representative 

 
cc: Monica Walker, Human Resources Manager 



8/1/23, 9:09 AM City of Berkeley - Class Specification Bulletin

https://agency.governmentjobs.com/berkeley/default.cfm?action=specbulletin&ClassSpecID=104956&headerfooter=0 1/4

Field Representative

Bargaining Unit: Service Employees
International Union, Local 1021 (Comm Svcs

& PT Rec Leaders)

Class Code:
4029

CITY OF BERKELEY
Established Date: Oct 6, 2008
Revision Date: Oct 6, 2008

SALARY RANGE

$36.58 - $39.77 Hourly
$2,926.14 - $3,181.87 Biweekly
$6,339.98 - $6,894.06 Monthly

$76,079.74 - $82,728.67 Annually

DESCRIPTION:

DEFINITION

Under general supervision, conducts field investigations of unpaid and delinquent City taxes,
fees and other City accounts receivable and if assigned to a sales-related position, performs
revenue-generating customer and information service activities; performs related work as
assigned.

CLASS CHARACTERISTICS

This class is the journey level class of the Field Representative series. Incumbents are
responsible for the investigation and collection of unpaid accounts and business license fees
and routine audits of business payrolls and other fiscal records or for generating revenue
through sales of various types of City services such as solid waste and recycling, depending
on assignment. Incumbents are expected to exercise independent judgment and tact in the
handling of delinquent account caseloads and in conducting outreach to the business
community. The assignment varies considerably depending upon whether it is in sales or in
collections, but shares the common characteristic of independent field work, representing City
programs and enforcing City ordinances to the public. This class is distinguished from the
Senior Field Representative in that the latter provides lead direction to assigned Field
Representatives and is responsible for more complex collection cases.

EXAMPLE OF DUTIES:

The following list of duties is intended only to describe the various types of work that may be
performed and the level of technical complexity of the assignment(s) and is not intended to be
an all-inclusive list of duties. The omission of a specific duty statement does not exclude it
from the position if the work is consistent with the concept of the classification, or is similar or
closely related to another duty statement.

1. Performs field investigations on a variety of unpaid City accounts including business
licenses, refuse, and transfer stations, housing and health inspection fees, hotel and utility
user taxes, marina concession fees, returned checks and other miscellaneous City charges;



8/1/23, 9:09 AM City of Berkeley - Class Specification Bulletin

https://agency.governmentjobs.com/berkeley/default.cfm?action=specbulletin&ClassSpecID=104956&headerfooter=0 2/4

2. Reviews account files to determine amounts owed and researches previous payment
history and collection activity;

3. Ensures sound customer service is provided to the businesses served by assisting in the
resolution of customer complaints and solving major account billing problems; investigates the
location of debtors and schedules appointments to discuss collection matters; explains laws
and procedures of collection to persons with unpaid or delinquent accounts; recommends
settlements and/or further legal action on delinquent accounts;

4. Prepares small claims actions and serves required documents on debtors; enforces City
street vendors ordinance and issues citations to vendors in non compliance;

5. Canvasses businesses and serves notice to unlicensed or improperly registered parties;

6. Assists in the enforcement of other license and tax ordinances as assigned; ensures
private business compliance with various local regulations related to the assignment;

7. Performs routine field audits of business payrolls and transient occupancy accounts;

8. Documents information on delinquent accounts and collection activities and initiates legal
action as necessary;

9. Makes court appearances and presents collection documentation;

10. Generates revenue through various sales activities such as telemarketing, door-to-door
sales, and personal appointments;

11. Provides information and educates current and prospective customers on available City
services such as solid waste and recycling services by means of personal visits or by
telephone;

12. Conducts customer outreach to business associations and trade groups;

13. Assists in the development of marketing and sales plans in support of growth projections;

14. Researches and assembles information from a variety of sources to prepare timely and
accurate sales reports; enters and retrieves data and compiles reports using a personal
computer;

15. Performs cold call activities directed at potential commercial customers to solicit new
business; contacts existing customers whose accounts may be expanded to include
additional services; follows up on customer leads which require personal interaction to
complete sale;

16. Assists in the development and implementation of service pricing programs;

17. Conducts on-site audits to determine types of services necessary to meet the needs of
customers;

18. Acts as the principal representative to major divisional accounts;

19. Promotes a positive City image by maintaining an active role in the communities served;

20. Performs related duties, as assigned.

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES:



8/1/23, 9:09 AM City of Berkeley - Class Specification Bulletin

https://agency.governmentjobs.com/berkeley/default.cfm?action=specbulletin&ClassSpecID=104956&headerfooter=0 3/4

Note: The level and scope of the knowledge and skills listed below are related to job duties as
defined under Class Characteristics.

Knowledge of:

1. Methods and procedures of bill collection, including delinquent account investigation and
follow up;

2. Basic principles, practices, and techniques of specialized services and pricing systems;

3. Principles, and methods of effective customer service relations including identifying
customer needs and issues and identifying and implementing appropriate solutions;

4. Local, state, and federal rules, regulations, and requirements which affect City collections
and assigned programs;

5. Business account bookkeeping and record keeping procedures;

6. Basic computer business applications such as word processing and spreadsheets;

7. Business arithmetic including percentages and decimals;

8. Correct English usage including spelling, grammar, and punctuation.

Skill in:

1. Exercising tact and judgment in the collection of monies on unpaid accounts;

2. Evaluating business accounts, payment histories and previous collection activities and
determining appropriate collection approach;

3. Preparing detailed documentation of collection efforts and other written correspondence;

4. Maintaining organized and accurate collection account records;

5. Presenting collection documentation on court cases;

6. Identifying the service needs of potential and existing customers and communicating the
benefits of such services in a convincing manner;

7. Developing methods of sourcing new customers;

8. Communicating effectively both verbally and in writing; preparing correspondence and
various types of reports;

9. Making arithmetic calculations with speed and accuracy;

10. Using initiative and sound independent judgment within established guidelines;

11. Establishing and maintaining effective working relationships with those contacted in the
course of work including members of the business community, individual customers,
community groups, and other city employees;

12. Operating standard office equipment including a personal computer and telephone
equipment;



8/1/23, 9:09 AM City of Berkeley - Class Specification Bulletin

https://agency.governmentjobs.com/berkeley/default.cfm?action=specbulletin&ClassSpecID=104956&headerfooter=0 4/4

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS:

A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS OUTLINED ABOVE IS:

Equivalent to graduation from high school and two (2) years of credit and collection, business
account, investigative, direct customer service, product marketing, telemarketing, or related
experience.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS

Must have a valid California driver's license and a satisfactory driving record. Must be willing
to work out of doors in all weather conditions.

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY:

Revised: 10/95
Changed class code from 91050: Jun 2014



Internal 

 

 

Senior Field 
Representative 

 
Bargaining Unit: Service Employees International 

Union, Local 1021 (Comm Svcs & PT Rec Leaders) 

Class Code: 
4069 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
Established Date: Oct 6, 2008 
Revision Date: Oct 6, 2008 August 7, 2023 

SALARY RANGE 
$39.18 - $42.58 Hourly 

$3,134.40 - $3,406.40 Biweekly 
$6,791.20 - $7,380.53 Monthly 

$81,494.40 - $88,566.40 Annually 

  

 

DESCRIPTION: 

DEFINITION 
 
Under general supervision, provides lead direction to Field Representatives, and conducts field 
investigations of City accounts receivable, and provides lead direction over revenue-generating 
customer and information services activities when assigned to a sales-related position; performs 
related work as assigned. 
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This class is the advanced, lead level of the Field Representative series. Incumbents provide lead 
direction to assigned Field Representatives and handle more difficult collection cases, and may 
perform and lead audits of business payroll and other fiscal records, as well as sales of City services 
such as solid waste and recycling. The work requires considerable technical knowledge of collections 
and sales, and has more accountability for day- to- day actions and decision making. This class is 
distinguished from the Customer ServiceTreasury Manager in that the latter has overall management 
responsibility for staff and operational activities of the Treasury Division, and from the Recycling 
Program Manager in that the latter has overall management responsibility for the Customer Service 
Division which includes License and Collection and Treasury activities staff and operational activities 
of a comprehensive solid waste recycling system and related City services. 
 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 

The following list of duties is intended only to describe the various types of work that may be 
performed and the level of technical complexity of the assignment(s) and is not intended to be an all-
inclusive list of duties. The omission of a specific duty statement does not exclude it from the position 
if the work is consistent with the concept of the classification, or is similar or closely related to 
another duty statement. 



Internal 

 

 
1. 1. Provides lead direction over, and assigns and reviews the work of, assigned Field 
Representatives; 
 
2. Performs field investigations on a variety of unpaid City accounts including business licenses, 
refuse, and transfer stations, housing and health inspection fees, hotel and utility user taxes, marina 
concession fees, returned checks and other miscellaneous City charges; investigates and prepare 
reports on specific requests and complaints. 
 
2. 3. Reviews account files to determine amounts owed and researches previous payment history 
and collection activity; 
 
3. 4. Investigates the location of debtors and schedules appointments to discuss collection matters;  
 
4. 5. Explains laws and procedures of collection to persons with unpaid or delinquent accounts; 
recommends settlements and/or further legal action on delinquent accounts; 
 
5.6.  Prepares small claims action and serves required documents on debtors; 
 
6. 7. Enforces City street vendors ordinance and issues citations to vendors in non-compliance; 
 
7. 8. Canvasses businesses and serves notice to unlicensed or improperly registered parties; assists 
in the enforcement of other license and tax ordinances as assigned; 
 
8. 9. Performs complex , routine and provides lead direction over, field audits of business payrolls 
and transient occupancy accounts; documents information on delinquent accounts and collection 
activities and initiates legal action as necessary; 
 
9. Maintains current knowledge of City municipal code and other legislation affecting City collections; 
 
10. Provides lead direction and review to assigned Field Representatives and makes assignments of 
collection cases; 
 
11. 10. Performs and leads revenue-generating activities such as telemarketing, door-to-door sales, 
and personal appointments, and development of marketing and sales plans; 
 
11. Performs and leads audits to determine services needed by customers; 
 
12. Maintains liaison and coordinates collection activities with the City legal department; 
 
12. 13. Prepares and files liens with the County Recorder's office; 
 
13. 14. Reviews Field Representative settlement recommendations and recommends appropriate 
City management actions on collection cases; 
 
15. Educates and promotes on topics related to licensing, recycling, and other related City services. 
Performs outreach, promotes public education, and makes presentations to the public to explain 
policies and programs. 
 
 
14. 16. Performs related duties as assigned. 
 



Internal 

 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 

Note: The level and scope of the knowledge and skills listed below are related to job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics. 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
1. Methods and procedures of bill collection, including delinquent account investigation and follow up; 
 
2. Principles and methods of effective customer service relations including identifying customer 
needs and issues and identifying and implementing appropriate solutions; 
 
3. City municipal code and other legislation affecting City collections; 
 
4. Local, state, and federal rules, regulations, and requirements which affect City collections and 
assigned programs; 
 
45. Business account bookkeeping and record keeping procedures; 
 
56. Business arithmetic including percentages and decimals; 
 
67. Basic computer business applications such as word processing and spreadsheets; 
 
78. Correct English usage including spelling, grammar, and punctuation; 
 
89. Basic supervisory principles. 
 
10. Solid waste management methods and technologies, including waste reduction recycling 
education (when assigned); 
 
11. Marketing economics of recycled materials (when assigned). 

 
 
Skill in: 
 
1. Providing lead direction and work review to assigned Field Representatives; 
 
2. Collecting monies on unpaid accounts; 
 
3. Exercising tact and judgment in the collection of monies owed; 
 
4. Evaluating business accounts, payment histories and previous collection activities and determining 
appropriate collection approach; 
 
5. Preparing detailed documentation of collection efforts and other written correspondence; 
 
6. Maintaining organized and accurate collection account records; 
 
7. Presenting collection documentation on court cases; 
 
8. Communicating effectively both verbally and in writing; preparing correspondence and various 
types of reports; 



Internal 

 

 
9. Making arithmetic calculations with speed and accuracy; 
 
10. Using initiative and sound independent judgment within established guidelines; 
 
11. Establishing and maintaining effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of 
work including members of the business community, individual customers, community groups, and 
other City employees; 
 
12. Operating standard office equipment including a personal computer and telephone equipment. 
 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS OUTLINED ABOVE IS: 
 
Equivalent to graduation from high school and three (3) years of credit and collection, business 
account, investigative, direct customer service, product marketing, telemarketing, or related 
experience. 
 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
 
When driving on City business, the incumbent is required to maintain a valid California driver's 
license as well as a satisfactory driving record. Must possess a valid California driver's license and 
have a satisfactory driving record. 
 

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY: 

Revised: 10/95 
Changed class code from 91040: Jul 2014 
Revised: 07/10/2023 

 



   
   

 

 
Human Resources 
 
Date:  August 7, 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Board 
 
From:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Director of Human Resources 
 
Subject:  Recommendation to Amend Paramedic Salary Range 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The City of Berkeley Fire Department seeks to amend the Paramedic salary range from $30.00-$45.00 
per hour to $30.00-$40.00 per hour to offset unanticipated budgetary impacts due to overtime. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The classification of Paramedic was approved by City Council in January 2022, at which time the Fire 
Department believed that the new hires would be working 40-hour weeks. Subsequent operational 
circumstances, however, necessitated that Paramedics primarily work 24-hour shifts, resulting in overtime 
expenditures every three out of four weeks and creating sustained budgetary impacts that the department 
cannot absorb. 
 
Accordingly, the department, in consultation with Human Resources, the City Attorney’s Office, and 
Payroll Audit, is seeking to revise the pay scale for Paramedics in order to make the classification 
affordable without compromising its long-term sustainability. 
 
Paramedics who are already in the classification will remain on the original pay scale. The change will 
affect only future hires that include candidates in the current recruitment pipeline. 
 

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 Step 8 Step 9 

Original Rates $30.0000 $31.5597 $33.2004 $34.9265 $36.7423 $38.6525 $40.6620 $42.7759 $45.0000 

Proposed 
Revised Rates $30.0000 $31.2500 $32.5000 $33.7500 $35.0000 $36.2500 $37.5000 $38.7500 $40.0000 

 
SALARY IMPACT 
 
Overtime expenditures and sustained budgetary impacts that the department cannot absorb would be 
lessened. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Personnel Board is requested to approve the following: Amend salary range of Paramedic as outlined. 
 
 



   

ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Job Class Specification with Proposed Salary Range Revisions – Paramedic (R) 
2. Job Class Specification – Paramedic (Z) 

 
cc: Monica Walker, Human Resources Manager 
 



Internal 

 

 

Paramedic (R)* 
 

Bargaining Unit: Berkeley Fire Fighters 
Association, Local 1227 

Class Code 
XXXX 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
Established Date: September 12, 2023 

SALARY RANGE* 

$30.00 - $40.00 Hourly 
$2,400.00 - $3,200.00 Biweekly 
$5,200.00 - $6,933.33 Monthly 

$62,400.00 - $83,200.00 Annually 

  

 
*Employees hired into the Paramedic classification 

after the establishment of this salary range on September 12, 2023 

DESCRIPTION: 

DEFINITION:  

Under general supervision, responds to medical emergencies, and other emergency and non-
emergency situations, and takes appropriate action; performs various staff support assignments in 
addition to normal emergency response activities; performs related work as assigned. 

CLASS CHARACTERISTICS:  

This is the journey level class, fully competent to perform responsible to provide emergency medical 
services response, performing all duties required to effectively respond to emergency medical 
situations at the advanced life support level. Incumbents may be assigned to an ambulance or other 
specialized response unit typically in two-person crews.  

 

EXAMPLE OF DUTIES: 

The following list of duties is intended only to describe the various types of work that may be 
performed and the level of technical complexity of the assignment(s), and is not intended to be an all-
inclusive list of duties. The omission of a specific duty statement does not exclude it from the position 
if the work is consistent with the concept of the classification or is similar or closely related to another 
duty statement.  

1. Provides first responder medical emergency care at the advanced life support level as 
defined by the State of California and Alameda County; 

2. Operates ambulances and other department vehicles; 
3. Operates within applicable federal, state county and city laws, regulations and guidelines 

including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA); 
4. Completes accurate and thorough documentation of patient care; 
5. Cleans, services, and ensures operational readiness of apparatus and equipment; 
6. Participates in training and maintains/improves skills; 



Internal 

 

7. Participates in various staff support assignments including but not limited to: maintenance of 
stations, apparatus and other facilities and performs scheduled inspections of departmental 
equipment; 

8. Works with the community in a variety of educational, public relations, and service programs; 
9. Presents in a professional manner and demonstrates behavior in accordance with state, 

county and city policies;  
10. Builds and maintains positive working relationships with co-workers, other employees and 

the public using principles of good customer service; 
11. Performs related duties as assigned. 

 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 

Note: The level and scope of the knowledge and abilities listed below are related to job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics. 

Knowledge of: 

1. Principles and practices of emergency medical care at the basic and advanced life support 
levels; 

2. Safety practices and precautions pertaining to the work; 
3. Applicable federal, state, county and City regulations, practices and procedures; 
4. Medical terminology and documentation. 

Ability to: 

1. Provide first responder emergency medical response at the advanced life support level; 
2. Safety operate emergency apparatus and equipment; 
3. Follow and provide oral and written directions; 
4. Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those encountered in the course 

of the work; 
5. Maintain accurate records and prepare clear and concise reports, and other written 

materials;  
6. Remain calm, make sound decisions, and respond appropriately in emergency situations; 
7. Communicate clearly and concisely, orally and in writing; 
8. Maintain Alameda County accreditation  

 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES IS: 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS – BY DATE OF APPLICATION 

• Graduation from high school or GED equivalent 

• Valid California Paramedic License  

• Valid California Driver’s License with a satisfactory driving record 

• Current American Heart Association CPR for the Healthcare Provider, ACLS, PALS, 
PHTLS/ITLS (or equivalents as determined by the Fire Chief) cards  



Internal 

 

• Proof of vaccination to include: TDaP, TB, MMR, Hepatitis B, Varicella (Chicken Pox), and 
Influenza. Titers demonstrating immunity may be substituted for the proof of vaccination.  

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS – BY DATE OF APPOINTMENT 

• Successful completion of background investigation including a Livescan; 

• Successful completion of physical ability exam according to the specifications of the fire 
department. 

OTHER REQUIREMENTS 

Must be able to travel within and outside the City of Berkeley to meet the program needs and to fulfil 
job responsibilities. The incumbent is required to maintain a valid California Class C or higher driver's 
license as well as a satisfactory driving record. 

Must be willing to maintain facial hair in such a manner as to ensure proper fitting and operation of 
Cal-OSHA compliant N95 and P100 particulate respirators.  

Must be willing to work shifts as structured in the Fire Department. Must successfully complete on-
going assessment of health and wellness as required by the City.  

 

 



Internal 

 

 

Paramedic (Z) 
 

Bargaining Unit: Berkeley Fire Fighters 
Association, Local 1227 

Class Code: 
9018 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
Established Date: Jan 18, 2022 
Revision Date: Jul 20, 2022 

SALARY RANGE 

$30.00 - $45.00 Hourly 
$2,400.00 - $3,600.00 Biweekly 
$5,200.00 - $7,800.00 Monthly 

$62,400.00 - $93,600.00 Annually 

  

 

DESCRIPTION: 

DEFINITION:  

Under general supervision, responds to medical emergencies, and other emergency and non-
emergency situations, and takes appropriate action; performs various staff support assignments in 
addition to normal emergency response activities; performs related work as assigned. 

CLASS CHARACTERISTICS:  

This is the journey level class, fully competent to perform responsible to provide emergency medical 
services response, performing all duties required to effectively respond to emergency medical 
situations at the advanced life support level. Incumbents may be assigned to an ambulance or other 
specialized response unit typically in two-person crews.  

 

EXAMPLE OF DUTIES: 

The following list of duties is intended only to describe the various types of work that may be 
performed and the level of technical complexity of the assignment(s), and is not intended to be an all-
inclusive list of duties. The omission of a specific duty statement does not exclude it from the position 
if the work is consistent with the concept of the classification or is similar or closely related to another 
duty statement.  

1. Provides first responder medical emergency care at the advanced life support level as 
defined by the State of California and Alameda County; 

2. Operates ambulances and other department vehicles; 
3. Operates within applicable federal, state county and city laws, regulations and guidelines 

including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA); 
4. Completes accurate and thorough documentation of patient care; 
5. Cleans, services, and ensures operational readiness of apparatus and equipment; 
6. Participates in training and maintains/improves skills; 



Internal 

 

7. Participates in various staff support assignments including but not limited to: maintenance of 
stations, apparatus and other facilities and performs scheduled inspections of departmental 
equipment; 

8. Works with the community in a variety of educational, public relations, and service programs; 
9. Presents in a professional manner and demonstrates behavior in accordance with state, 

county and city policies;  
10. Builds and maintains positive working relationships with co-workers, other employees and 

the public using principles of good customer service; 
11. Performs related duties as assigned. 

 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 

Note: The level and scope of the knowledge and abilities listed below are related to job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics. 

Knowledge of: 

1. Principles and practices of emergency medical care at the basic and advanced life support 
levels; 

2. Safety practices and precautions pertaining to the work; 
3. Applicable federal, state, county and City regulations, practices and procedures; 
4. Medical terminology and documentation. 

Ability to: 

1. Provide first responder emergency medical response at the advanced life support level; 
2. Safety operate emergency apparatus and equipment; 
3. Follow and provide oral and written directions; 
4. Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those encountered in the course 

of the work; 
5. Maintain accurate records and prepare clear and concise reports, and other written 

materials;  
6. Remain calm, make sound decisions, and respond appropriately in emergency situations; 
7. Communicate clearly and concisely, orally and in writing; 
8. Maintain Alameda County accreditation  

 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES IS: 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS – BY DATE OF APPLICATION 

• Graduation from high school or GED equivalent 

• Valid California Paramedic License  

• Valid California Driver’s License with a satisfactory driving record 

• Current American Heart Association CPR for the Healthcare Provider, ACLS, PALS, 
PHTLS/ITLS (or equivalents as determined by the Fire Chief) cards  



Internal 

 

• Proof of vaccination to include: TDaP, TB, MMR, Hepatitis B, Varicella (Chicken Pox), and 
Influenza. Titers demonstrating immunity may be substituted for the proof of vaccination.  

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS – BY DATE OF APPOINTMENT 

• Successful completion of background investigation including a Livescan; 

• Successful completion of physical ability exam according to the specifications of the fire 
department. 

OTHER REQUIREMENTS 

Must be able to travel within and outside the City of Berkeley to meet the program needs and to fulfil 
job responsibilities. The incumbent is required to maintain a valid California Class C or higher driver's 
license as well as a satisfactory driving record. 

Must be willing to maintain facial hair in such a manner as to ensure proper fitting and operation of 
Cal-OSHA compliant N95 and P100 particulate respirators.  

Must be willing to work shifts as structured in the Fire Department. Must successfully complete on-
going assessment of health and wellness as required by the City.  

 

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY: 

Class Title: Paramedic 

Classification Code 9018 

Classification Established 1/18/22 

FLSA Status Non-Exempt 

Administrative Leave/Overtime Overtime 

Representation Unit  B 

Probationary Period 12 Months 

Workers’ Compensation Code 8810 

 

 



 

 

 

Promoting transparency and accountability in Berkeley government 

Audit Report 

May 27, 2021 

Staff Shortages: City 

Services Constrained 

by Staff Retention 

Challenges and 

Delayed Hiring 

 

June 22, 2023 

Jenny Wong, City Auditor 

Caitlin Palmer, Senior Auditor 

Erin Mullin, Senior Auditor 

Kendle Kuechle, Auditor I 

Pauline Miller, Auditor I 



 

 
Promoting transparency and accountability in Berkeley government 

Report Highlights 

For the full report, visit: 

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-audits 

Findings 

1. Berkeley’s staff shortages constrained city services, but the City 

did not have a clear strategy to improve retention during our 

audit period. More employees left the City than were hired in 

each year of the audit period, contributing to the staff shortage. 

Resignations and retirements outpaced full-time hires 
during the audit period.  

Source: ERMA, FUND$, and NEOGOV 

2. Employee dissatisfaction made it harder for the City to retain 

staff. Surveyed employees reported dissatisfaction with 

workloads, professional development opportunities, pay, and 

communication and support from city leadership.  

3. Instability in Human Resources delayed hiring and impacted 

internal services. The average time it took to hire new 

employees increased from 4.9 months in fiscal year 2018 to 7.7 

months in fiscal year 2022.    

4. Telework can benefit the City and help retain some employees 

but the current policy is limited.  

5. The City lacked reliable data to monitor trends and address staff 

shortages.  

Recommendations 

We recommend that the City establish retention goals, conduct an 

analysis of staff needed for city services and consider staff capacity 

around new legislation. We also recommend that the City take 

steps to address employee satisfaction and improve the recruiting 

and hiring process. We also recommend that the City expand the 

telework policy to align with best practices and regularly collect 

data on employee satisfaction and on diversity, equity, inclusion, 

and accessibility.   

June 22, 2023 

Objectives 

1. How do staff shortages affect city 
services? 

2. What is the state of employee 
satisfaction? 

3. What internal factors impact the 
City’s ability to fill vacancies? 

4. How does telework affect the City’s 
ability to retain employees? 

5. How does the City use data to 
address staff shortages?  

 

Why This Audit Is Important 

Berkeley government has faced 

difficulties retaining employees, which 

caused staff shortages that limited the 

City’s ability to provide services to 

residents. Staff shortages can make 

workloads for current employees 

unmanageable, which can drive down 

morale and worsen employee 

retention. Combined, these issues can 

lead to an increase in employee errors, 

a decrease in the quality of services, 

and an overall increase in the City’s 

financial risks and other liabilities. The 

inability to retain employees can also 

be costly to the City in the long run, as 

it may be more expensive to hire and 

train new employees than it is to retain 

productive employees.  

Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff 

Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

3 
 

Table of Contents 
Page 3  Introduction 

Page 4   Objectives, Scope, and Methodology 

Page 5  Background 

Page 7  Finding 1: Staff shortages constrained city services. 

Page 12 Finding 2: Some surveyed employees reported dissatisfaction and many have contemplated 

leaving. 

Page 24 Finding 3: Instability in Human Resources delayed hiring and impacted internal services. 

Page 29 Finding 4: Telework can benefit the City but the current policy is limited. 

Page 36 Finding 5: The City lacked reliable data to address staff shortages. 

Page 41 Recommendations and Management Response 

Page 49 Methodology and Statement of Compliance 

Page 52 Appendix I. Satisfaction Survey Responses 

Page 55 Appendix II. Exit Survey Questions 

Page 57 Appendix III. Satisfaction Survey Respondents by Department 

Introduction 
We identified employee retention in the City of Berkeley as an area needing independent assessment based on 

our observation of challenges with employee retention and staff shortages in previous audits.1 Employee 

retention refers to an organization’s ability to keep employees and reduce turnover. Staff shortages can limit 

Berkeley government’s ability to provide public services and programs. For example, understaffing in the Police 

department and  dispatch center can increase  call response times for the Berkeley community and result 

in officer burnout and fatigue, contributing to health and safety risks. Understaffing in financial oversight roles 

can increase the risk of fraud. Employee retention is essential to maintaining enough staff to provide high 

quality services to Berkeley residents.  

                                                           
1 Past audits identifying workforce retention issues include an audit of Police overtime and outside security work, an audit 
of  dispatcher staffing and overtime, and an audit of the Code Enforcement unit. 

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-04/Berkeley%20Police%20-%20Improvements%20Needed%20to%20Manage%20Overtime%20and%20Security%20Work%20for%20Outside%20Entities.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-01/Dispatch-%20Workload-Fiscal-%20Year-2018.pdf
https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/2022-01/Code%20Enforcement%20Resources%20Significantly%20Constrained_Fiscal%20Year%202018.pdf


   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

4 
 

Our audit examines the root causes of the City’s retention challenges and provides recommendations to prevent 

the City from facing a staffing crisis of this magnitude in the future. While some departments have unique 

retention challenges based on the nature of their work, the purpose of this audit is to understand citywide 

challenges and provide recommendations to improve retention across all departments. We initially started 

work on this audit in November , but postponed our work at the onset of the COVID-  pandemic as audit 

staff were diverted to the Emergency Operations Center. We resumed this audit in March . In September 

, the City contracted with consulting firm MRG Associates to develop a separate Employer of Choice 

report. Some themes of this audit are similar to MRG’s report, but our work follows audit standards as 

specified in the City Charter. 

Objectives, Scope, and Methodology 
Our objectives were to answer the following questions: 

. How do staff shortages affect city services? 

. What is the state of employee satisfaction? 

3. What internal factors impact the City’s ability to fill vacancies? 

4. How does telework affect the City’s ability to retain employees? 

. How does the City use data to address staff shortages? 

We evaluated employee retention data for fiscal years (FY)  through . We analyzed data on hiring, 

vacancies, longevity, and employee demographics. To understand employee perspectives, we surveyed current 

employees about their job satisfaction, and surveyed employees who voluntarily resigned or retired from the 

City about why they left. We also interviewed every department director in the City and offered to meet with 

union representatives from employee labor groups. Lastly, we reviewed best practices from leading human 

resource organizations along with staffing data from local jurisdictions to compare to Berkeley. For more 

information on the methodology, see page .  

  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

5 
 

Background 

City of Berkeley’s Workforce 

The City of Berkeley has ,  budgeted full-time equivalent (FTE) positions as of fiscal year .2  The three 

largest departments are Public Works, Police, and Health, Housing, and Community Services (Table ). 

Table . Budgeted Full-Time Equivalent Positions by Department, Fiscal Year  

Department Budgeted FTEs 
Public Works 340.00 
Police 313.20 
Health, Housing and Community Services 265.58 
Fire 203.00 
Parks, Recreation, and Waterfront 165.62 
Planning and Development 116.04 
Library 115.60 
Finance 56.00 
Information Technology 52.00 
City Manager 45.50 
Rent Board 23.55 
Human Resources 22.00 
Mayor and Council 19.00 
City Attorney 17.00 
City Auditor 14.75 
City Clerk 10.00 
Economic Development 8.00 
Office of the Director of Police Accountability 5.00 

Source: Berkeley’s FY  and FY  Budget Book 
 

Employee retention is important in government organizations to ensure there are enough staff to deliver 

services and programs effectively. City of Berkeley staff have a wide range of responsibilities that affect the 

Berkeley community, including road maintenance, public safety, transportation, housing assistance, city 

planning, and many others. City staffing challenges can therefore impact almost everyone who lives in, works 

in, or visits Berkeley.  

                                                           
2 Some of these budgeted positions may be vacant. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

6 
 

Retention Challenges  

Many employers are currently facing challenges retaining employees. About a year after the onset of the 

COVID-  pandemic, people began leaving their jobs nationwide at increasing rates. This phenomenon became 

known as the Great Resignation. According to a survey by Pew Research Center, around  in  adults left their 

job voluntarily during  due to various reasons, including childcare needs, salary, lack of career 

advancement, COVID-  concerns, and a desire for more flexibility or work-life balance. The retirement rate 

also increased nationwide by  percent among the baby boomer generation in . In the City of Berkeley, 

nearly  percent of the workforce is eligible for retirement as of , which will increase to  percent by 

. An increase in retirements may worsen retention issues in the coming years. Therefore, improving 

retention of remaining staff should be a high priority for the City of Berkeley.  

Though outside factors such as the Great Resignation provide a larger context for employee retention, 

workforce retention in Berkeley was a problem before the pandemic and the Great Resignation, which are not 

solely responsible for citywide retention challenges. Our analysis of employee perspectives provides 

information on internal factors that affect retention.3  

Some level of employee turnover is necessary in healthy organizations. Employees leave for many reasons other 

than job dissatisfaction, such as retirement or relocation. Employee turnover also allows new talent to enter the 

organization. However, too much employee turnover becomes costly and makes it difficult for organizations to 

function. Excessive turnover can also lower the morale of the remaining staff in an organization and impact 

service delivery.  

 
 

                                                           
3 Finding  on page  outlines the primary causes of employee dissatisfaction leading to retention issues in the City of 
Berkeley. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

7 
 

Staff shortages constrained city services. 
Berkeley had a high vacancy rate, reflecting staff shortages. These shortages have caused reductions in basic 

services for community members, such as delayed staff responses and facility closures. Though the City’s 

strategic plan includes a goal to attract and retain a talented and diverse workforce, the City did not have a 

clear and data-driven strategy to improve retention or address the root causes of excessive turnover during our 

audit period.  

Berkeley’s high vacancy rate reflected staff shortages. 

Berkeley has experienced a staff shortage, as indicated by its vacancy rate (the percentage of budgeted positions 

that are vacant). Compared to other cities in the Bay Area with available vacancy data, Berkeley’s citywide 

vacancy rate was the second highest at  percent in  (Figure ). 

Figure . Berkeley had the second highest vacancy rate compared to other Bay Area cities in 
. 

Note: Berkeley and San Francisco vacancy data are from October , and all other data is from June . These were 
the most recent dates available to compare vacancy rates at the time of our data request. 

Sources: City of Berkeley, City of San Francisco Human Resources, City of Oakland Human Resources 
 

Berkeley’s vacancy rate is based on counts from department directors in October .  Some department 

directors reported that the high vacancy rate was a problem before the pandemic. However, we were unable to 

quantify how the vacancy rate has changed over the years due to data limitations (see Finding  on page  for 

more information on the City’s data challenges). 

28%

19%

16%

16%

15%

14%

13%

11%

9%

City of Vallejo

City of Berkeley

City of Oakland

City of Richmond

City of Hayward

City of Concord

City of San Jose

City of Fremont

City of San Francisco



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

8 
 

The City did not hire enough employees to address the gap between voluntary separations (resignations and 

retirements) and new hires. Figure  shows that there were more resignations and retirements than full-time 

hires in each year of our audit period.4 As a result, the cumulative hiring need increased, as the City did not hire 

enough employees each year to make up for the number of employees who left in previous years. 

Figure . Resignations and retirements outpaced full-time hires during the audit period. 

 

Note: Full-time hires refers to staff hired into full-time permanent positions. Resignations and retirements do not include 
medical separations or disability retirements. The data does not include internal transfers or promotions. 

Source: ERMA, FUND$, and NEOGOV 

Staff shortages impaired services to the community and other departments. 

An increase in vacant positions reduced the number of staff available to ensure city programs and services 

functioned as intended. In response to our satisfaction survey, some employees explained that staff shortages 

made it difficult to deliver basic services to the community. According to one employee:   

When departments are stretched thin, they cannot do a good job of supporting the community or other 
departments. […] When departments experience turnover, it is very difficult to absorb the 
responsibilities, train new staff, and still deliver baseline services. 

                                                           
4 According to the Human Resources Director, from January to March , the City hired more than twice as many new 
employees as the number of employees who left the City. 

76 74
86

56

139138
146

103
91

169

FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022

Resignations 
and Retirements

Full-Time Hires



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

9 
 

In a presentation to City Council on December , , the City Manager outlined how vacancies reduced city 

services. For example, there were reduced services or hours of operation at clinics and senior centers, and 

temporary closures of some fire stations.  

Additionally, understaffing in public safety increased the need for mandatory overtime in both the Police and 

Fire departments. According to the City Manager, vacancies in the Transportation division have also 

contributed to delays in a major transportation project. Such delays may limit the City’s ability to achieve goals 

such as reducing greenhouse gas emissions or improving traffic safety.   

Vacancies also affected services that some departments provide to support the City’s internal operations. For 

example, according to an Information Technology (IT) manager, understaffing in IT caused delays in technical 

assistance to employees. These types of delays impact employees’ ability to do their jobs efficiently, which can 

in turn impact the delivery of services to the Berkeley community.  

Vacant positions can also increase risk to the City. For example, lack of sufficient supervisory review can 

increase risk of overpayments, missed payments, or fraud. When employees leave, it may take years for new 

employees to gain that same level of knowledge.  

A high vacancy rate combined with decreased employee tenure (the length of time an employee has worked for 

an organization) can also impact services if staff do not have institutional knowledge or are not yet fully 

trained. Departments may also lose specialized knowledge or knowledge of a particular city process when the 

employee managing that function leaves. One former employee stated: 

At the time I began working for [the City], the office culture and knowledge from within was superior. 
As time went on and more people left, the office began to fail.   

Employee tenure varies by department (Figure ). The two departments with the lowest average employee 

tenure are the City Attorney’s Office and Human Resources (HR). Low average tenure may present challenges 

to some important internal services due to lost institutional knowledge.  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

10 
 

Figure . Average Years of Employee Tenure by Department,  

Note: Each data point refers to the average employee tenure in each department as of October . 

Source: ERMA 

The City lacked a clear and data-driven retention strategy.  

The City did not have a clear strategic approach during our audit period to address the root causes of excessive 

turnover and meet its strategic plan goal. The City’s strategic plan includes a goal to attract and retain a 

talented and diverse city government workforce. According to the  strategic plan update, the City has 

revised some personnel rules and regulations and expanded employee wellness and resiliency programs in the 

Police department. The City also implemented the skilled worker academy, an in-depth program for some 

frontline staff to gain computer skills and other professional skills in September . However, some 

department directors cited a lack of clarity around an overall retention strategy from city management or HR, 

or a perception that the City does not have the data and staff to sustain successful retention initiatives. The 

Society for Human Resources Management, an association of HR professionals, recommends organizations 

develop targeted strategies to improve retention. Data can help identify the areas where an organization needs 

to improve and inform strategies to address these issues. During the audit period, the City did not have reliable 

data on retention and employee satisfaction to inform a data-driven retention strategy (see Finding  on page 

 for more information on the City’s data challenges). 

2.5

3.1

5.8

6.3

7.4

7.9

8.8

9.3

10.3

10.3

11.4

11.9

12.1

12.5

12.9

13.0

City Attorney

Human Resources

Council and Mayor

City Clerk

Health, Housing, and Community Services

Planning

Rent Board

Parks, Recreation, and Waterfront

Information Technology

City Manager's Office

Public Works

Finance

Fire

Police

City Auditor

Library



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

11 
 

Additionally, the City has not conducted an analysis of staffing levels needed for city operations and services. 

This may include working with department directors to identify the optimal number of FTEs and type of 

positions in each department, and aligning those positions with the department’s goals for successful city 

operations and services. Based on guidance issued by the Government Finance Officers Association, it is a best 

practice for governments to determine the optimal level and type of staff needed to meet the organization’s 

goals and objectives in light of cost constraints. It will be difficult for the City to develop targeted strategies to 

address retention challenges without this data.  

Recommendations 

To better manage retention, we recommend the City Manager’s Office: 

1.1 Establish citywide retention goals and report to City Council on progress towards those goals 

biennially. 

1.2 Conduct a staffing analysis based on critical needs to identify the number and type of full-time 

equivalent positions needed for successful city operations and services. The City may consider 

conducting this analysis one department at a time based on available resources. 

 

 

 

  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

12 
 

Some surveyed employees reported dissatisfaction 
and many have contemplated leaving.  
Employee satisfaction is a major factor in employee retention. Fifty-five percent of surveyed employees 

reported being satisfied with their job, which is lower than a federal government average. Factors impacting 

satisfaction among survey respondents were workloads, professional development opportunities, pay,5 and 

communication and support from city leadership. 

Some City of Berkeley employees reported low job satisfaction and over 
half have contemplated leaving.  

Only  percent of current city employees who responded to our survey reported that they were satisfied or 

somewhat satisfied with their job. This is lower than the job satisfaction rate among federal government 

agencies, which is  percent (Figure ).    

Figure . Surveyed City of Berkeley employees reported lower job satisfaction than federal 
government employees in similar-sized agencies. 

Note: Federal employee data is from medium-sized agencies with , - ,  employees; Berkeley had ,  full-time 
employees as of . Job satisfaction data from local government agencies was not readily available.  

Sources:  City of Berkeley employee satisfaction survey and  federal employee viewpoint survey  

Many current employees we surveyed also contemplated leaving the City. Over half, or  percent of current 

employees surveyed reported looking for another job in the year before taking the survey. Additionally, about 

 percent of surveyed former employees reported that organizational culture problems were among their 

primary reasons for leaving the City (Appendix II). 

                                                           
5 We did not review city pay structures, as it was outside the scope of this audit. 

73%

55%

Federal government

Berkeley



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

13 
 

Employee dissatisfaction is one of the main causes of turnover, according to the Society for Human Resources 

Management. High turnover is costly and affects an organization’s performance. Benchmarking data estimates 

that the total cost to recruit, train and develop a new hire may be at least half to two times that employee’s 

salary. 

Some employees reported unmanageable workloads related to staff shortages, new 
work, and inefficient systems. 

Some surveyed employees reported that one of the primary reasons they looked for a job in the past year was 

because they had a high workload due in part to staff shortages. Only  percent of current employees felt their 

workload was manageable (Figure ). For comparison, in a survey of federal government employees,  percent 

agreed that their workload was reasonable. Nearly a quarter of surveyed former employees also listed high 

workload as one reason for leaving the City.  

Figure . Forty-four percent of surveyed employees reported that their workload was 
manageable. 

Source: 2022 satisfaction survey 

Staff Perspectives 
 
“There are not enough positions in my unit for the workload. I have demonstrated this 
time and again, and the solution from management has been for me, as the lowest 
level employee in my functional area exempt from overtime, to work 50 hours a week 
or more.” – Current employee 
 
“The department I worked for was understaffed and lacked the resources to support 
city employees. I was provided insufficient training and had trouble keeping up with 
the workload. The workload and lack of support were primary reasons why I opted to 
look for new opportunities less than six months after starting at the City of Berkeley.”  
– Former employee 
 
“When there are vacancies, it affects staff’s ability to do the work. It also impacts 
morale when people are stressed out. Some people left the department due to the 
unreasonable volume of work they were expected to produce.” – Department director 
 
Sources: 2022 exit and satisfaction surveys, employee interviews 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

14 
 

One department director also noted that certain job descriptions are out of date, which can make it difficult to 

recruit new employees to fill vacancies and help relieve the workload for current employees. The Chair of the 

Personnel Board also stated that the City has not reviewed certain job descriptions in recent years. Updated job 

descriptions can help ensure that city job postings accurately reflect job duties. 

Employees receive new work beyond their regular duties, including referrals from City Council or public 

commissions, or additional items assigned in each department as noted in the Employer of Choice report.6 

Some employees reported that because service delivery expectations remained the same when their department 

or division lacked adequate staffing, they were overloaded with work during periods of short staffing, which 

compounded their already unmanageable workload. City Council has a process to prioritize referrals to staff, 

though that process was not used in fiscal year  and fiscal year  due to the COVID-  pandemic. 

However, it does not include a formal method of accounting for staffing impacts when assigning additional 

work. Without limiting or prioritizing referrals based on staff capacity, staff may not be able to balance council 

referrals with their regular duties or providing baseline services. 

Employee workload is also exacerbated by ineffective internal and administrative systems. As one department 

director stated, “The substandard internal systems we have make a lot of our work inefficient.” This includes 

software systems such as ERMA, the City’s financial management platform. The City switched to ERMA from 

FUND$, their prior HR/payroll management system, in January . Some employees explained that this 

transition added to their workload significantly. Other employees described city systems as antiquated, with IT 

assistance, timesheets, telephones, and key access cited as examples. Some technology and system issues may 

be affected by retention challenges if an employee in charge of managing a system is new or not fully trained. 

Some employees and department directors expressed a sense that internal systems are outdated and hard to 

use, which is a source of frustration and affects their ability to do their jobs efficiently. 

                                                           
6 Council referrals are short or long-term projects assigned to departments based on City Council’s direction. Since the 
City starting tracking referrals in , there have been approximately  referrals assigned. About  of the referrals 
are completed,  are in progress, and the rest have not yet been started or have been rejected by Council action. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

15 
 

Opportunities for professional development were limited.  

Lack of career opportunities impacted retention. 

Some surveyed employees reported dissatisfaction with career advancement opportunities in the City. 

Approximately  percent of surveyed former employees cited inadequate promotional opportunities as one of 

their primary reasons for leaving the City of Berkeley. Forty percent of surveyed current employees were also 

dissatisfied with their career advancement opportunities, compared to  percent who were satisfied, with  

percent neutral (Figure ).  

Figure . Forty percent of surveyed employees reported being dissatisfied with career 
advancement opportunities.  

 

Source: 2022 satisfaction survey  

Berkeley is a mid-sized city, therefore options for career advancement might be more limited than in larger 

jurisdictions. However, there may be opportunities to improve promotional pathways through succession 

planning with a cross-training component. Succession planning identifies long range needs and cultivates 

internal talent to meet those needs and prepare for new roles in the organization. Cross-training is an approach 

to employee development that places employees in a position to learn skills and abilities that are not part of 

their current roles. The City can use cross-training in conjunction with succession planning to facilitate 

knowledge and skill transfer to current employees, which can help them meet the qualifications for future 

career advancement.  

Staff Perspectives 
 
“The promotions process is ambiguous and not transparent. People get promoted and those 
who do not are left wondering what they could have done to improve themselves and their 
chances for promotion. The promotional criteria are a mystery. Rather than continue waiting 
for a possible promotion, I decided to retire.” – Former employee 
 
“Berkeley does not have many opportunities for advancement which has caused some people 
to leave the department.” – Department director 
 
Source: 2022 exit survey, employee interviews 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

16 
 

Though some departments have an internal succession planning process, there was no citywide initiative 

during the audit period. The City listed succession planning as a priority in its -  Strategic Plan report, 

but placed the project on hold during the pandemic according to a July  update. A stronger effort to 

upskill employees could help Berkeley better prepare for future retirements while broadening career 

advancement opportunities.  

Providing adequate professional development opportunities is a best practice for employee retention. 

Employees will be more likely to remain at an organization if they are able to improve their job title, salary 

and/or responsibilities. This can help ensure that programs continue to run successfully through staffing 

changes, ultimately benefiting the Berkeley community. 

Over half of surveyed employees did not receive regular performance evaluations. 

Sixty-seven percent of surveyed employees reported that they did not 

receive a performance evaluation in the prior year. However, it is 

difficult to determine how often evaluations were happening and how 

that varied by department, as HR does not consistently keep records of 

past employee performance evaluations.  

Along with constructive guidance and regular feedback, performance evaluations are one component of 

successful employee performance management. Well-functioning performance management programs 

improve individual and team performance, and make organizations more effective. Performance evaluations 

also allow supervisors and employees to discuss areas for skill development, and identify learning 

opportunities for future advancement.  

Some surveyed employees were dissatisfied with trainings and professional 
development opportunities. 

Trainings and professional development opportunities are essential for employee satisfaction and can support 

career growth. Continuous skill development ensures employees have the tools they need to succeed, and it 

helps organizations retain top talent. However, many current employees reported dissatisfaction with 

Berkeley’s available training opportunities. Among surveyed employees,  percent were dissatisfied with 

citywide trainings and professional development opportunities, compared to  percent who were satisfied, 

with  percent neutral (Figure ).  

67% 
of surveyed employees reported that 
they did not receive a performance 
evaluation in the past year. 
 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

17 
 

Figure . Forty percent of surveyed employees were dissatisfied with citywide training and 
professional development opportunities. 

Source: 2022 satisfaction survey 

Among surveyed supervisors,  percent found their citywide supervision training inadequate, compared to  

percent who found it adequate (  percent neutral). Supervisors are an important resource to the City in 

employee retention and satisfaction. Thirty-five percent of former employees who responded to our survey 

stated that a poor relationship with their supervisor was a primary consideration for leaving the City. This 

indicates that the relationship between supervisees and supervisors is a factor in retention. The City used to 

organize a leadership development program for supervisors, but has not conducted that training since prior to 

the pandemic. Consistent citywide training for supervisors may help foster a positive relationship with 

supervisees and improve retention.  

Staff Perspectives 
 
“Citywide training and professional development opportunities are nearly non-existent. 
The training opportunities that do exist are generally subpar and not many employees 
know how to access them.” – Current employee 
 
“Citywide training has a great deal of room for improvement and offers no tailored 
opportunities for public safety, which has different challenges than other departments.” 
– Current employee 
 
“The City should be intentional in its efforts to prepare all employees who transition 
into leadership roles. To have high expectations of our supervisors, we should provide 
meaningful training and education so they are better prepared for these critical roles 
throughout the City.” – Department director 
 
Source: 2022 satisfaction survey and employee interviews 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

18 
 

Prior to March , many trainings received positive evaluations. The City put a pause on most trainings at 

the start of the COVID-  pandemic in March . The City resumed some regular trainings in June of  

and developed more trainings in . The skilled workers academy is one example of a comprehensive 

training program that the City started in  to help some employees develop professional skills and 

computer skills, among others. However, there are not similar professional development opportunities 

available for employees at all levels across all departments, and current dissatisfaction levels with city trainings 

suggest a need for improvement in this area. According to the HR Director, the City is currently looking at ways 

to provide specialized training to more employees. 

HR’s training division also had record keeping challenges during the audit period. California law requires that 

all employers of five or more people provide one to two hours of sexual harassment prevention training to staff 

every two years. According to the HR Director, since at least  the City has been out of compliance with 

state-mandated sexual harassment prevention training. Due to inadequate data, we were unable to determine 

how long the City has been out of compliance with this law. In March , the City set a goal to ensure all 

employees complete mandatory trainings by December , .  

Some surveyed employees were dissatisfied with pay.  

Pay was a common issue among surveyed employees, and some department directors also reported issues with 

pay. We did not perform a salary analysis of Berkeley’s compensation compared to market rates for similar 

positions as it was outside the scope of this audit. However, there are opportunities to improve retention by 

addressing some specific issues in Berkeley. 

Some employees and department directors expressed in surveys and interviews that dissatisfaction with pay 

impacts employee retention. Thirty-seven percent of employees surveyed were dissatisfied with their 

compensation, while  percent were satisfied (  percent neutral). Comparatively,  percent of federal 

employees were satisfied with their pay in . Satisfaction survey data also shows that the longer employees 

worked for the City, the less satisfied they generally were with their compensation (Figure ).  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

19 
 

Figure . Pay satisfaction generally decreased as employee tenure increased. 

Source: 2022 satisfaction survey 

When asked to elaborate on pay and benefits, some surveyed employees expressed perceptions that their pay is 

not commensurate with their job duties. One department director noted that some staff are underpaid relative 

to staff performing the same work in other jurisdictions. Other surveyed employees expressed dissatisfaction 

with differences in pension benefit compensation. According to a  report from union members, there is a 

significant difference in pension benefit compensation between Classic and California Public Employees’ 

Pension Reform Act members represented by Local One and Service Employees International Union 

bargaining groups, as well as unrepresented employees.7 Additionally, many surveyed employees expressed a 

perception that the City’s cost of living adjustments (COLAs) to salaries are inadequate, or that the City needs 

to develop a plan to have more frequent COLAs.  

                                                           
7 The California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) took effect in January, . The law changed the way 
the state’s public employee retirement and health benefits are applied, and placed compensation limits on new members. 
In the City of Berkeley, the Pay Equity Committee for PEPRAs noted in  that Classic members contributed .  
percent of their paycheck to the pension fund, whereas PEPRA members contributed .  percent. In , the City 
agreed to reduce some PEPRA members’ pension contributions, though the terms of that ramp down varied by bargaining 
group.    

61% 60%

48%
44%

37%
42%

Under 1 year 1-2 years 3-5 years 6-10 years 11-15 years More than 15
yearsSu

rv
ey

ed
 E

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
Sa

tis
fie

d 
w

ith
 

C
om

pe
ns

at
io

n

Employee Tenure at the City of Berkeley



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

20 
 

The City typically renegotiates certain elements of employee pay about once every three years with each 

employee union. In the satisfaction survey, some employees expressed perceptions that the City’s pay system is 

inflexible or unfair based on workload, classification or job duties. Pay may also be a factor in the recruitment 

and retention of specialized positions. Some specialized positions are particularly hard to recruit for based on 

the labor market. For example, some hiring managers stated that it has been difficult for the City to recruit 

firefighters, engineers, and mental health clinicians, among others, which may be related to the labor market in 

those fields. One director noted that this difficulty in recruiting made it hard to fill vacancies, which 

contributed to burnout among employees. Identifying ways to ensure that pay is competitive may improve 

recruitment and retention of these positions. 

 

High turnover is costly, therefore organizations that invest in employee compensation may avoid recruitment 

and hiring costs that come with turnover. While the City must consider available revenue streams when making 

pay decisions, improved retention may ultimately lead to reduced turnover costs for the City. Ensuring pay is 

commensurate with comparable jurisdictions is frequently cited as an important aspect of employee retention. 

Communication and support from city leadership may have impacted 
employee satisfaction. 

Almost half, or  percent, of surveyed employees did not feel that city management communicated well when 

making decisions that affect Berkeley employees, compared to  percent who were satisfied with city 

management’s communication, with  percent neutral (Figure ). When asked to elaborate, surveyed 

employees gave examples including too little communication from city management, confusing 

communication, lack of transparency in communication, and too few opportunities to provide feedback.  

Staff Perspectives 
 
“Positions, job duties, and classifications are not equitable. People doing basically the 
same job but in different classifications can have upward of a $30k difference in pay.” 
– Current employee 
 
“I realize terms are limited by union agreements, but it is my opinion that the 
compensation system is not nimble and cannot respond to the severe cost of living 
conditions at this time. Wage increases seriously lag the cost of living, and cannot 
adequately respond to current inflation conditions.” – Current employee 
 
Source: 2022 satisfaction survey 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

21 
 

Figure . Almost half of surveyed employees did not believe city management communicates 
well when making decisions that impact employees. 

 

Source: 2022 satisfaction survey 

 

One example of insufficient communication was a lack of clarity around COVID-  policies. In the satisfaction 

survey, some employees expressed confusion around COVID-  reporting, notifications, or inconsistencies 

around mask policy enforcement upon returning to the office. Lapses in communication can increase risk to 

the City and employees if they are not connected to the correct resources during emergencies, disasters or other 

important situations. For example, one employee described receiving inadequate information from city 

management around safety issues such as threats to employee safety. Effective communication is also 

important in building employee morale, satisfaction, and engagement.  

Maintaining frequent and organized internal communication is often listed as a best practice for employee 

retention. Effective communication is essential for proper employee management, as it helps employees 

understand the terms of their employment, gives employees opportunities to provide feedback which is 

important for internal satisfaction, and reduces potential employee grievances due to misunderstandings.  

Staff Perspectives 
 
“I believe the translation of what city management is asking or saying gets lost when 
transferring the information back to the individual departments. Like a bad game of 
telephone, you get some of the information, none of the information, or a lot of bad 
information.” – Current employee 
 
“I feel far removed from city management and that I am the last to find out about decisions 
from city management. I wish there was a way to bridge this gap.” – Current employee 
 
Source: 2022 satisfaction survey 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

22 
 

Lack of support from city or department management was among the most common reasons why surveyed 

employees looked for another job in the year prior. Additionally,  percent of surveyed employees reported 

that they did not believe city management cares about employees, compared to  percent who did (  percent 

neutral). These responses suggest there may be opportunities for city and department leaders to build stronger 

communication with employees and develop strategies to ensure employees feel adequately supported at all 

levels of the organization.  

Recommendations 

To ensure job duties align with job descriptions, we recommend the City Manager’s Office: 

2.1 Review the highest priority city job descriptions to ensure they accurately reflect job duties. 

To alleviate workloads associated with Council referrals, we recommend: 

2.2 City Council consider staff capacity when introducing new legislation, and limit or prioritize new 

legislation during periods of short staffing. 

2.3 The City Manager’s Office report on the status of approved projects to City Council, including 

information about delays caused by staff vacancies. 

To improve employee satisfaction, we recommend the City Manager’s Office: 

2.4 Improve pathways for promotion in the City through a citywide succession plan, which may include 

cross-training for positions. 

2.5 Direct departments to ensure that all employees receive an annual performance evaluation.  

To improve employee satisfaction, we recommend Human Resources: 

2.6 Implement a comprehensive training program that ensures staff at all levels receive the training they 

need to fulfill their job duties and develop their job skills as needed. Consider increasing the training 

budget and redesigning the training curriculum to best address the needs of a post-pandemic 

workforce, improving training for supervisors and managers, ensuring that experts conduct trainings, 

and allowing employees to request specific trainings. 

To improve transparency, we recommend Human Resources: 

2.7 Ensure that all city employees complete mandatory trainings in accordance with the state law. Report 

data on mandated trainings to Council annually. 

  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

23 
 

We also recommend the City Manager’s Office: 

2.8 Update City Council on the recruitment status of hard-to-fill positions during the biennial budget 

process, as well as steps taken to fill these positions. 

2.9   Identify positions that are hard-to-recruit and retain and consider reassessing pay for those positions. 

To improve communication channels in the City, we recommend the City Manager’s Office: 

2.10 Assess employees’ needs regarding communication from the City Manager’s Office and design a 

communication strategy that addresses those needs. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

24 
 

Instability in Human Resources delayed hiring and 
impacted internal services. 
The average time it takes to hire increased by almost three months between fiscal years  and , from 

.  months to .  months. Understaffing and instability in HR contributed to these hiring delays during our 

audit period. Additionally, increases in the number of budgeted positions in HR did not keep pace with 

increases in budgeted positions citywide. Thus, remaining staff in HR were burdened with heavy workloads to 

manage the City’s hiring needs. There are opportunities for HR to improve citywide hiring practices as well as 

onboarding for new employees. 

The average time to hire increased by almost three months. 

One of HR’s established performance measures is to reduce the average time to hire each year, but it has 

increased since fiscal year . According to Berkeley’s internal hiring data, the average time it takes for 

Berkeley to hire new employees increased from .  to .  months between fiscal years  and  (Figure 

).8 During the audit period, HR did not hire fast enough to address the growing gap between resignations and 

retirements compared to new hires as shown in Figure  (page ). 

Figure . The average time to hire increased since fiscal year .  

Source: NEOGOV 

                                                           
8 The time to hire calculation measures the average time between the date the department created a requisition to hire a 
new employee and the date of the employee’s first day on the job. 

4.9

6.3

5.3

7.4 7.7

FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022

Be
rk

el
ey

's
 A

ve
ra

ge
 T

im
e 

to
 H

ire
 in

 
M

on
th

s



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

25 
 

One explanation for the hiring timeline increase may be the citywide hiring freeze that lasted from April  

to September . The City asked departments to suspend all hiring activities, though they could request 

exceptions to be approved by the City Manager on a case-by-case basis. The additional approval may have 

lengthened the hiring timeline.  

Another factor of the increased hiring timeline may be HR’s instability due to their staff shortage. HR had the 

highest vacancy rate among departments in October , at  percent (Figure ). HR’s vacancy rate more 

than quadrupled between  and , from  percent to  percent.9 Therefore, fewer HR staff were 

available to work on hiring and filling vacancies in other departments. There was also a loss of institutional 

knowledge in the department when many employees departed. Some positions turned over multiple times—  

HR employees left the City between fiscal year  and fiscal year . For context, HR was budgeted to 

have  FTEs in fiscal year , and  FTEs beginning in fiscal year . As of September , the average 

employee tenure in HR was .  years compared to the citywide average tenure of .  years. According to the 

Society for Human Resources Management, losing key employees can impact workflow and result in 

productivity losses. These impacts were felt around the City, as HR provides hiring support and other internal 

services to every department. 

Figure . Human Resources had the City’s highest vacancy rate in October . 

Source: Department directors 

                                                           
9 This number is based on a point-in-time count using payroll data from October  and a department director interview 
from . 

45%
35%

30%
25%
25%

21%
20%
20%
20%

18%
16%

15%
15%

14%
13%
13%

11%
8%

Human Resources
City Attorney

Finance
Health, Housing and Community Services

City Manager
Information Technology

Police
City Clerk

Office of the Director of Police Accountability
Berkeley Public Library

Planning
Public Works

Parks, Recreation, and Waterfront
City Auditor

Office of Economic Development
Mayor and Council

Fire
Rent Stabilization Board



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

26 
 

There has additionally been instability within HR leadership. During the audit period, there were four different 

people in the role of HR Director. Leadership turnover can lead to organizational instability, lower employee 

morale and productivity, and decrease employee retention.  

In addition to vacancy challenges, the number of budgeted positions in HR has not kept pace with citywide 

increases in the number of FTEs. The City added about  additional full-time positions between fiscal years 

 and , but only one of these new positions was allocated to the HR department. According to the HR 

Director, the  new positions increased recruitment and hiring demands, as well as the need for HR support 

in areas including transactions, training, employee relations, benefits, equal employment opportunity 

investigations, occupational safety, and workers’ compensation. The HR Director also noted that some of these 

HR functions were staffed by a single member of the department. If a staff member took time off or left the 

City, there may have been no one managing an essential HR function. This combined with HR’s high vacancy 

rate may have contributed to the issues with personnel data we discuss in Finding  on page .  

HR was faced with a cyclical problem over the audit period: the City’s average time to hire increased (Figure ) 

due in part to lack of staff capacity in HR (Figure ). Some former employees reported that they left the City 

because of an unmanageable workload tied to staff shortages, which only increased the overall number of 

vacancies for HR to help fill. The Employer of Choice report also identified the importance of investing in HR 

and recommended hiring up to six additional FTEs in HR. As of May , City Council authorized HR to hire 

three additional HR staff members.  

HR is now in the process of stabilizing. As of May , HR has staffed  percent of the department’s original 

 FTEs. Other department directors have noticed a positive change, with one stating: 

The team that has been assembled is responsive, informative, and has demonstrated an ability to 
support our needs, which is not an easy task. Having an effective, responsive and knowledgeable HR 
team is critical to maintaining operations throughout the City and I am so grateful to the team as I 
know how hard they are working to support us.  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

27 
 

Ineffective procedures may have contributed to hiring challenges. 

There are opportunities for HR to modernize, streamline, and standardize hiring procedures. Updating hiring 

processes can help the City attract and hire qualified candidates in order to fill vacancies.   

HR did not generally use modern hiring processes during the audit period. For example, HR has not 

historically used LinkedIn, or other job boards such as college and university job boards as recruiting 

platforms. Additionally, according to one manager, application processes could be lengthy due to multiple 

supplemental questions included in the application. Best practices for hiring recommended by the Society for 

Human Resources Management include using social media to advertise positions, making sure the application 

process is streamlined and easy-to-use, and collaborating with universities, colleges and high schools to 

increase the applicant pool. Some department directors also expressed that the management approval process 

for new positions slowed down the hiring process.  

HR did not provide department hiring managers with comprehensive procedures or trainings for the hiring 

process during the audit period. One department director stated that they never received any training from HR 

on citywide recruitment processes, and they had to learn the City’s hiring system NEOGOV on an ad hoc 

basis.10 The former Interim HR Director also noted that the department had no one to train HR employees on 

how to use NEOGOV. According to the current HR Director, HR has recently developed trainings on the City’s 

hiring process and how to use NEOGOV, and they have conducted these trainings with some departments. The 

HR Director also stated that every department now has an assigned HR analyst who works with departments to 

strategize for recruitments.  

Some surveyed employees reported inadequate onboarding. 

Thirty-eight percent of surveyed employees did not believe that HR provided them 

with adequate onboarding to the City, compared to  percent who did (  percent 

neutral). Onboarding involves providing the employee with the tools and 

information they need to become a productive member of the team. According to 

the Society for Human Resources Management, a well-designed onboarding process 

can improve employee engagement and retention.  

                                                           
10 NEOGOV is a talent management system used by many public sector agencies, including the City of Berkeley. The City 
uses NEOGOV software to support the City’s hiring process. 

38%  
of surveyed 
employees did not 
think HR provided 
them with adequate 
onboarding to the 
City. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

28 
 

Of the surveyed employees who answered demographic questions,  percent of employees hired within the 

past two years were dissatisfied with their onboarding, compared to  percent of employees hired before then. 

This may indicate that the quality of the City’s onboarding process has declined in recent years. This time 

period overlaps with the COVID-  pandemic, which may have impacted employees’ onboarding experiences. 

Nevertheless, it is still important to ensure employees receive adequate onboarding so that they feel welcomed 

and understand their role and responsibilities.   

Recommendations 

To improve hiring procedures, we recommend the City Manager’s Office: 

3.1 Assess the level of staff and resources needed to meet the City’s recruitment and hiring needs. Prioritize 

filling these positions when vacancies in this area fall below a level that would jeopardize the City’s 

ability to hire quickly. 

3.2 Assess the approval process for hiring new employees and identify opportunities to reduce 

inefficiencies. 

 

We also recommend Human Resources: 

3.3 Develop and execute a plan to modernize recruitment and hiring using social media and community 

engagement. 

3.4 Communicate standard procedures and trainings for NEOGOV and the City’s hiring process to all 

department heads and hiring managers. 

3.5 Improve the employee onboarding process so employees have the tools and information they need to do 

their jobs. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

29 
 

Telework can benefit the City but the current policy 
is limited. 
Among surveyed employees who were able to telework,  percent reported being satisfied with their 

experience. In addition to other benefits, telework may help retain employees by increasing employee 

satisfaction, performance, and commitment to the organization. It may also serve as a draw to potential 

applicants. Telework may also produce additional environmental and financial benefits to the City. Still, the 

current telework policy is not comprehensive and lacks accountability.  

Most surveyed city employees report being satisfied with telework. 

In March of , the City began allowing some employees the option to telework in response to the COVID-  

pandemic. The City prohibited teleworking prior to . This policy was implemented quickly due to the 

pandemic emergency, and there has not been much analysis on the impact of telework on employees. 

Therefore, we asked current employees about their satisfaction with telework.  

Sixty-seven percent of all survey respondents believed they could do some or all of their work remotely, while 

 percent did not. Though some employees cannot telework based on their job duties—public safety officers, 

maintenance workers, and others—the majority of city employees have some job duties that can be done 

remotely. Of the employees we surveyed who were able to telework,  percent reported being satisfied with 

their experience. Only  percent reported being dissatisfied with telework (  percent neutral). When asked to 

elaborate on their telework responses, the majority of employees described the 

positive impacts of telework on their life. This included decreased commute time, 

improved job satisfaction, improved work-life balance, and improved workplace 

safety. Seventy-five percent of surveyed employees who telework reported still 

feeling connected to their colleagues. Fifty-two percent of surveyed employees who 

telework also stated they would look for other employment if they are not able to 

telework at least some of the time. This indicates that telework is an important 

factor in retaining Berkeley employees. 

 

 

 

 

 

52% 
of surveyed employees 
who telework said they 
would seek other 
employment if the City 
removes the option to 
telework. 
 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

30 
 

Telework is one method of reducing employee commute times, which may increase employee satisfaction. 

Many City of Berkeley employees have long work commutes, as only  percent of full-time employees live in 

Berkeley. The majority of surveyed employees reported commuting  minutes or more to their worksite, with 

a quarter reporting a commute of an hour or more (Figure ). Telework can therefore alleviate the burden of a 

long commute for these employees and the time spent commuting can be replaced with something more 

valuable to the employee.  

Figure 12. A quarter of surveyed employees reported commuting an hour or more to work.  

  
Source: 2022 satisfaction survey 

6%

19%

39%

24%

12%Less than 15 
minutes

15 to 29 
minutes

30 to 59 
minutes

60 to 119 
minutes

120 minutes 
or more

Staff Perspectives 
 
“I am grateful for the City's decision to continue telework. It allows me to save time 
and money on commuting. […] My colleagues and I all work effectively from home and 
stay connected via phone, email, Teams chat and conference calls. Remote work is a 
primary consideration for staying with the City.” – Current employee 
 
“Being able to telework is a fantastic aspect of working with the City. The City's COVID 
rules are rarely followed in the offices, so being able to cut down on exposure time is 
great, especially because I have a young infant and an immunocompromised spouse 
at home.” – Current employee 
 
Source: 2022 satisfaction survey 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

31 
 

Telework likely increased employee wellbeing and overall satisfaction for those who were able to telework 

during the pandemic, but some employees expressed needing telework policies that were fairer and more 

flexible. Over a quarter of surveyed employees expressed that they did not feel safe going to their worksite 

because of COVID- . In open-ended survey responses, employees expressed different opinions regarding 

COVID-  safety. Some believed the City provided enough protection around the virus, while others expressed 

concern about contracting COVID-  at their worksite. Some felt that the City was inflexible around telework 

allowances, even for employees with underlying health conditions.  

Telework may have additional benefits to the City.  

There may be additional recruitment, environmental, financial, and disaster preparedness benefits associated 

with telework.  

Telework can improve the recruitment pipeline by increasing the pool of available applicants to city positions. 

Many job seekers specifically look for flexible and remote working arrangements in an organization, therefore, 

Berkeley may be a more attractive employer by offering telework. Additionally, if Berkeley lacks funding to 

invest in improving workspaces, allowing employees to telework is one way to remain competitive with other 

organizations hiring from the same candidate pool. Other government organizations are also responding to job 

seekers’ increased desire for telework. A recent NEOGOV survey of public sector HR directors found that  

percent of organizations had expanded telework opportunities in order to attract more job candidates. This 

number will likely increase in the coming years as the public sector adapts to changing workforce norms. 

Telework can also reduce carbon emissions created from employee commutes. An analysis of carbon emissions 

shows that if full-time career employees commute to Berkeley five days a week, this will generate 

approximately ,  metric tons of carbon annually. By allowing employees to work from home, the City can 

reduce its carbon footprint generated by employee commutes. We estimate that the City could reduce carbon 

emissions tied to employee commutes between  and ,  metric tons per year depending on the level of 

telework (Figure ). Decreasing the emissions from employee commutes also aligns with Berkeley’s Climate 

Action Plan goal to reduce the year  emission levels by  percent by .  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

32 
 

Figure . Telework can reduce the amount of CO  produced by employee commutes.  

Note: This calculation assumes  percent of full-time, career employees are participating in telework program. The 
current telework policy states employees can telework up to three days per week. We did not receive information on the 
number of city employees teleworking or how often they are teleworking.  

Source: Berkeley City Auditor analysis  

 

Telework can potentially reduce some costs for the City. Based on an analysis conducted by Global Workplace 

Analytics, Telework in the st Century, employers can save an estimated $ ,  per half-time telecommuter 

per year.11 Their estimate includes cost savings as a result of increased productivity, lower real estate costs, 

reduced absenteeism and turnover, and better disaster preparedness. We did not conduct an analysis of 

potential savings in the City of Berkeley. 

Having a telework plan is a critical component of any emergency operations plan. During the COVID-  

pandemic, telework allowed the City to continue providing essential city services when employees could not be 

in their normal worksites. However, because the City did not have any teleworking policy or practice in place 

prior to the pandemic, there was no infrastructure in place for employees and managers to transition to 

working remotely. Having a practiced and thorough telework program would enable the City to adapt quickly 

to any event requiring the closure of city buildings without compromising service delivery.  

                                                           
11 Telework in the st Century: https://globalworkplaceanalytics.com/telecommuting-statistics 

4,307 
3,732 

3,158 
2,583 

- 575 
- 1,149 

-1,724

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

 3,500

 4,000

 4,500

No telework 1 day per week 2 days per week 3 days per week

An
nu

al
 C

O
2

Em
is

si
on

s 
(M

et
ric

 T
on

s)

Telework Schedule



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

33 
 

The telework policy is not comprehensive and lacks accountability 
elements. 

Despite employees’ overall support for telework, the City’s existing telework policy is not comprehensive, and 

does not address accountability issues. In February , the City indicated that the telework policy would 

continue indefinitely after notifying employees that the COVID-  masking and vaccine mandates would end at 

the end of that month. As of May , no updates were made to create a more robust, long-term policy, 

though the contractor that produced the Employer of Choice report was developing a hybrid workplace best 

practices guide. One city employee union also pointed out the need for predictable and fair work from home 

policies as telework continues. A comprehensive telework policy should define eligibility, work expectations, 

and equipment and resource requirements.  

 

In open-ended survey responses,  employees expressed feeling that there are equity issues between 

teleworking and non-teleworking staff. According to a peer reviewed study, a perceived telework disparity can 

potentially lead to job dissatisfaction, a decrease in productivity, and difficulty retaining non-teleworking 

employees.12 Transparency is one way to reduce perceived telework disparity. To realize the maximum benefits 

of teleworking, practices and policies should be made as transparent as possible. Additionally, teleworkers 

should provide their telework schedule and availability as well as having regular and fixed times to give updates 

to supervisors and colleagues.   

                                                           
12 A Dark Side of Telework: A Social Comparison-Based Study from the Perspective of Office Workers: 
https://rdcu.be/c plU  

Staff Perspectives 
 
“Accountability needs to be redefined to make telework successful. Rather than 
physical presence as a measure of productivity, there should be performance 
benchmarks linked to clear goals with timeframes to make telework more equitable 
across the City. It would refocus accountability on results rather than physical 
presence (which is a poor indicator of productivity anyways).” – Current employee 
 
“The City needs to identify ways to increase accountability in teleworking for it to be 
sustainable.” – Current employee 
 
“Berkeley doesn’t provide a lot of guidance on telework policies, so we aren’t able to 
give candidates clear information on how much flexibility they can expect.” – Manager 
 
Source: 2022 satisfaction survey, employee interviews 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

34 
 

Updates to the telework policy can help improve transparency and encourage accountability. The current 

telework policy does not contain eligibility guidance, but leaves the determination of eligibility up to 

departments. It states that workers must be available by phone, email, or other specified method of 

communication during scheduled work hours, and it requires each remote worker to indicate how often they 

will check their email or phone during the workday. However, there appears to be no best practice guidelines in 

Berkeley’s policy for these communication levels, and no accountability element if a remote employee is 

unresponsive. Berkeley’s policy also does not require supervisors to justify their decision to deny telework 

requests. 

Additionally, it is unclear which standard work equipment the City can provide to teleworkers. The policy only 

states that employees should contact their supervisor if they need equipment, but offers no guidance to 

supervisors on what they are allowed to provide to teleworkers. One department director said that the City did 

not consistently offer adequate training for supervisors of teleworking employees during the audit period.  

The State of California, Alameda County, and the City and County of San Francisco developed comprehensive 

telework policies and guides for their employees (Table ). These telework policies all require employees to 

receive training before teleworking, as well as specific trainings for supervisors to effectively manage their 

teleworking teams. These policies also outline a clear process for requesting equipment. Alameda County’s 

policy has a checklist that managers must review before allowing a supervisee to telework, to ensure that the 

employee will be successful. Supervisors in the State of California and Alameda County are additionally 

required to justify their decision to deny or request a modification to employees’ telework requests.  

 

  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

35 
 

Table . The City of Berkeley does not have a comprehensive telework policy. 

Source: State of California telework guide, Alameda County telework policy, City and County of San Francisco’s 
teleworking policy, City of Berkeley telework policy 

 

Recommendations 

To improve the telework policy, we recommend the City Manager’s Office: 

4.1 Identify ways of reducing unused space in city buildings to save on overhead costs. This initiative may 

require additional resources beyond city staff. 

4.2 Expand the citywide telework policy to include elements that align with best practices. This can include 

eligibility, employee accountability, equipment requests, telework training, and justifications for 

denying employee requests to telework.  

 

 

  

Elements of a Comprehensive Policy 
State of 

California 
Alameda 
County 

City and County of 
San Francisco 

City of 
Berkeley 

The policy requires employees to be available for 
contact while teleworking.     
The policy states that employees must comply with 
health and safety requirements at their telework 
site. 

    

The policy has specific eligibility guidance.    X 

The policy has clear communication guidelines and 
expectations.   X X 

There is an accountability element for 
unresponsive employees.    X 

There are clear instructions for requesting 
equipment.    X 

There are training resources and requirements.    X 

Supervisors must provide justification for denying 
telework requests.   X X 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

36 
 

The City lacked reliable data to address staff 
shortages. 
Berkeley did not maintain accurate data to track retention trends. The City’s internal personnel data system, 

ERMA, was unable to produce reliable reports on vacancy and turnover rates during our audit period. 

Inaccurate data may impact the City’s service delivery if it cannot identify and respond to department vacancies 

or staff shortages in real-time. The City also has not consistently collected data on employee satisfaction. HR 

has not consistently sent exit surveys to departing employees or shared the data with departments. 

Additionally, city management has not reported sufficient data in recent years to track progress towards its 

diversity, equity, inclusion and accessibility goals and identify opportunities for improvement. 

The City did not have reliable data on retention trends.  

According to data systems owners in the City, ERMA was unable to produce reliable vacancy reports during our 

audit period. This means department directors did not receive vacancy data from HR and had to manually 

calculate vacancy rates. The vacancy rate is the percent of vacant positions within an organization. ERMA 

was also unable to produce accurate turnover reports during the audit period. The turnover rate measures 

the number of employees who leave in a given time period. Due to the City’s data challenges, we could not 

report on any information regarding employee turnover. 

 

Table . Key Retention Data Was Unreliable 

Data Definition Status 
Vacancy rate Percent of total positions that are 

vacant. 
Unreliable 

Turnover rate Percent of employees to leave an 
organization during a given time period. 

Unreliable 

Source: Auditor conclusion 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

37 
 

Calculating turnover allows organizations to monitor the movement of employees out of an organization over a 

specific time period rather than a single point in time. Tracking data on employee retention such as vacancies 

and turnover rates helps organizations identify and proactively address employee retention challenges. The 

International Public Management Association, an organization that represents HR professionals in 

government, states that HR professionals must have access to accurate, real time workforce data. Maintaining 

accurate workforce data is also important when developing the budget. The Government Finance Officers 

Association notes that since salaries generally make up the greatest portion of the expenditure budget, 

governments should use personnel data to account for the number of budgeted positions and expected 

vacancies. According to the HR Director, the City’s ability to produce accurate and reliable vacancy and 

turnover reports are limited by pre-set data fields in ERMA which do not always capture data that HR would 

like to track. Custom data fields do not feed automated dashboards but must be manually extracted. The City is 

currently working on solutions to improve ERMA’s reporting capabilities. 

The City’s personnel system is cumbersome and prone to errors. According to data system owners, migrating 

data from the previous system FUND$ to ERMA in  resulted in errors. Consequently, certain employee 

information was missing or incorrect in ERMA. Other data errors may have been due to the system’s inability 

to accurately represent underfilled positions, or data entry errors that went unresolved. According to the 

former Interim HR Director, there were no established procedures around entering and managing personnel 

data in ERMA.  

With these data limitations, the City will not be able to easily track or report on retention. This could affect the 

City’s service delivery if it does not have the data to proactively identify concerning trends in vacancies and 

turnover. It also increases departments’ workload as they manually calculate and update this data, instead of 

using ERMA to quickly produce a report. According to the HR Director, HR has made progress in cleaning up 

personnel data and engaged a consultant to produce accurate reports in ERMA. 

The City did not consistently collect data on employee satisfaction or 
conduct exit surveys. 

With the exception of the recent Employer of Choice report, the City has very little data on employee 

satisfaction and does not share available data with departments. While HR has an exit survey, they have not 

sent it to every employee who resigns, and the number of responses is low. Additionally, the data HR does 

collect is not shared with departments, and it is unclear how the City uses the data. Further, there is currently 

no process in place for ongoing monitoring of retention and satisfaction data. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

38 
 

Most of the departments we interviewed have some method of conducting exit interviews with departing 

employees, though exit interviews are sometimes sporadic depending on the size of the department and their 

available resources. The Public Works department additionally collects yearly internal satisfaction data. 

However, there is no organized citywide effort to collect satisfaction data and compare trends.  

Collecting satisfaction data can help organizations understand employee 

experiences and take steps to reduce internal dissatisfaction, thus improving 

retention. For example, the U.S. Office of Personnel Management conducts 

an annual survey on employee engagement—the Federal Employee 

Viewpoint Survey—in order to report on trends in employee satisfaction. 

Surveys or interview data can identify the most common causes of 

dissatisfaction, thus allowing the City to develop a targeted approach to 

improving retention. 

The City lacked a robust data-informed approach to meet its diversity, 
equity, inclusion, and accessibility workforce goals. 

The City recognizes the importance of maintaining a diverse workforce, however, it has not reported sufficient 

data in recent years to track progress towards its goals and identify opportunities for improvement. 

Promoting diversity in the government workforce is important for a number of reasons, including retention. 

Fostering a diverse and inclusive workplace can help organizations reduce turnover, increase employee 

retention across demographic groups and improve morale. Regular assessment of employee satisfaction could 

help the City uncover diversity, equity, inclusion and accessibility (DEIA) concerns that impact retention. As 

noted in the previous section, the City does not regularly collect data on employee satisfaction, including 

employees’ perceptions of DEIA in the workplace. Some employees raised concerns about DEIA in their open-

ended survey responses, which suggests that it is an important factor in employee satisfaction.13 A regular 

citywide survey of employees would allow the City to target common DEIA concerns among employees or 

prioritize interventions to address those concerns. The U.S. Office of Personnel Management has demonstrated 

how to do this by recently adding DEIA questions to its Federal Employee Viewpoint Survey, along with a DEIA 

score based on survey responses. 

                                                           
13 These concerns echoed some of the issues brought forth by  current and former employees who filed complaints with 
the Berkeley Branch of the NAACP and were interviewed by Mason Tillman Associates in . Mason Tillman Associates 
noted the following dominant themes which emerged from their analysis: absence of transparency in the hiring and 
promotion process; failure to hold supervisors, managers and directors accountable for their actions; and inconsistent 
application of rules and regulations in the hiring and promotion process. 

Employee engagement refers to 
the sense of purpose and 
commitment employees feel toward 
their employer and its mission. 
Employee satisfaction is a 
measure of how satisfied 
employees are with different 
aspects of their work including their 
job, organization, pay, and others. 
 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

39 
 

One of the City’s strategic plan goals is to attract and retain a talented and diverse City government workforce. 

According to the proposed budget for fiscal years  and , one of HR’s performance measures is to 

ensure that City demographics reach parity with Alameda County demographics and identify and address racial 

and ethnic disparities in the City workforce. In the past, the City’s Equal Employment Office has provided the 

Personnel Board with Year End Workforce reports which analyze demographic trends across indicators like 

hires, promotions, and leadership roles compared to the U.S. Census American Community Survey (ACS) data 

for Alameda County. However, the reports have not been produced since fiscal year . According to HR, the 

department plans to produce these reports again and is exploring the feasibility of automating these reports. 

A full demographic analysis of the city workforce was outside the scope of this audit. However, we identified 

some retention trends in the Year End Workforce reports that merit closer attention. For example, in fiscal year 

, Hispanic or Latino employees made up  percent of all employees,  percent of supervisors and 

managers, and there were no Hispanic or Latino employees in deputy director or director roles. This is based 

on the most recent report available; there may have been demographic changes since the fiscal year  

report.  

While comparing the demographic breakdown of Berkeley’s workforce to the Alameda County ACS sheds light 

on where Berkeley stands compared to one relevant labor market, it is also important to monitor workforce 

trends across all levels of the City employee population (i.e. staff, managers, and supervisors) to gain a better 

sense of representation within the organization. The City’s performance measure on employee diversity does 

not report on all levels of employment. However, looking at the data in this way could highlight potential 

barriers, for example, pipelines into manager- or director-level roles.  

Recommendations 

To improve internal data systems, we recommend Human Resources: 

5.1 Clean up personnel data in ERMA to ensure all employee data is accurate.  

5.2 Develop standardized procedures for entering and managing personnel data in ERMA. 

5.3 Produce reports that can be used to inform retention and hiring efforts, which may 

include data on vacancies, recruitments, turnover, or other useful data. Human 

Resources should also report to City Council on staff vacancies by department and how 

long those positions have been vacant. 

5.4 Consistently conduct exit surveys or interviews and share results with departments. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

40 
 

To better manage retention efforts, we recommend City Council: 

5.5 Determine the appropriate city department or other body to regularly collect data on 

employee satisfaction. Data collection should include employees’ perceptions about 

diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility in the workplace. The department should 

consider publishing the data and comparing it to previous years to help inform 

retention efforts.  

To improve reporting on diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility, we recommend the City 

Manager’s Office and Human Resources: 

5.6 Resume data collection and production of Year End Workforce Reports on 

demographic workforce trends at least annually. Consider expanding Human 

Resources’ performance measure reported in the budget book to capture diversity at all 

levels of city employment. 

 

 

  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

41 
 

Recommendations and Management Response 
We provided a draft of this report to city management and HR for review and comment. City management 

agreed with our findings, conclusions, and recommendations. We generally expect the City to implement audit 

recommendations within two years of report issuance. Some of the following recommendations may be 

implemented immediately, or require a longer timeframe to implement depending on available resources. We 

believe these recommendations are a worthwhile investment for the City. 

1.1 To better manage retention, we recommend the City Manager’s Office establish citywide retention 
goals and report to City Council on progress towards those goals biennially. 

Implementation Date: 1 year 

Corrective Action Plan: Upon stabilizing the City’s hiring crisis, Human Resources will 
establish staffing goals (e.g., hiring over attrition) and metrics by 
which to measure them (e.g., reductions in vacancy rates). 

1.2 To better manage retention, we recommend the City Manager’s Office conduct a staffing analysis 
based on critical needs to identify the number and type of full-time equivalent positions needed for 
successful city operations and services. The City may consider conducting this analysis one 
department at a time based on available resources. 

Implementation Date: 2+ years 

Corrective Action Plan: A staffing analysis of the recommended scale – involving operational 
departments, Human Resources, and the Budget team – is beyond 
the capacity of the City’s current staff. In order to be implemented, 
the recommendation would need funding and external resources 
(i.e., the involvement of a consulting firm) or a drastic reduction of 
current priorities. 

2.1 To ensure job duties align with job descriptions, we recommend the City Manager’s Office review 
the highest priority city job descriptions to ensure they accurately reflect job duties. 

Implementation Date: 2 years 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already embarked on this endeavor, working 
with departments and the Personnel Board to revise key 
classification specs as vacancies occur. Revisions, however, are time-
consuming, since they involve researching changes to the job class, 
drafting new language, negotiating the edits with labor groups, 
conducting a compensation study and submitting the change 
proposals to the Personnel Board for review and approval and then 
to council for adoption. Given that HR has limited staff and a slew of 
other deliverables, the revision process will necessarily move forward 
in priority order over the course of two years, unless resources are 
invested for outside contractors to assist with the workload. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

42 
 

2.2 To alleviate workloads associated with Council referrals, we recommend City Council consider staff 
capacity when introducing new legislation, and limit or prioritize new legislation during periods of 
short staffing. 

Implementation Date: 1 year 

Corrective Action Plan: Staff currently articulate in staff reports and communications to the 
City Council regarding staff capacity to implement new legislation. In 
addition, the City Manager presented in December 2022 to the City 
Council regarding the staffing crisis the City is currently facing. 
Opportunities to enhance communications of this nature can be 
explored with the City Council. 

2.3 To alleviate workloads associated with Council referrals, we recommend the City Manager’s Office 
report on the status of approved projects to City Council, including information about delays caused 
by staff vacancies. 

Implementation Date: 1 year 

Corrective Action Plan: Staff currently articulate in staff reports and communications to the 
City Council regarding staff capacity to implement new legislation. In 
addition, the City Manager presented in December 2022 to the City 
Council regarding the staffing crisis the City is currently facing. 
Opportunities to enhance communications of this nature can be 
explored with the City Council. 

2.4 
 

 

 

 

To improve employee satisfaction, we recommend the City Manager’s Office improve pathways for 
promotion in the City through a citywide succession plan, which may include cross-training for 
positions. 

Implementation Date: 2 years 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources will plan for promotional pathways through 
succession planning and cross-training while being mindful of 
inherent restrictions imposed on this effort by the relatively modest 
size of the City’s workforce, particularly in smaller City 
departments/divisions. 

2.5 To improve employee satisfaction, we recommend the City Manager’s Office direct departments to 
ensure that all employees receive an annual performance evaluation. 

Implementation Date: 18 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources will reconfigure the employee evaluation process 
with the mindset that performance assessment and feedback should 
be continuous, constructive, and growth-minded, rather than limited 
to 12-month intervals. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

43 
 

2.6 To improve employee satisfaction, we recommend Human Resources implement a comprehensive 
training program that ensures staff at all levels receive the training they need to fulfill their job 
duties and develop their job skills as needed. Consider increasing the training budget and 
redesigning the training curriculum to best address the needs of a post-pandemic workforce, 
improving training for supervisors and managers, ensuring that experts conduct trainings, and 
allowing employees to request specific trainings. 

Implementation Date: 18 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already initiated a re-imagining of the 
workforce training curriculum, with specific focus on supervisory, 
non-supervisory, and safety-sensitive positions. This effort includes a 
redesign of the Leadership Development Program and the new 
Skilled Workers Academy to maximize efficiency and effectiveness. 
Many current employees have gone through this program already. 

2.7 To improve transparency, we recommend Human Resources ensure that all city employees 
complete mandatory trainings in accordance with the state law. Report data on mandated trainings 
to Council annually. 

Implementation Date: 1 year 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already identified compliance with mandatory 
trainings as a top priority for the 2023 calendar year. Departments 
are asked to meet compliance milestones throughout the year, 
reaching 100% by December 31. 

2.8 To improve transparency, we recommend the City Manager’s Office update City Council on the 
recruitment status of hard-to-fill positions during the biennial budget process, as well as steps 
taken to fill these positions. 

Implementation Date: 18 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already instituted a system of prioritizing 
departments’ most critical hiring needs. Once vacancy rates are 
stabilized, HR will highlight remaining hard-to-fill positions during 
every biennial budget process, along with articulating the measures 
implemented to recruit for them. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

44 
 

2.9 To improve transparency, we recommend the City Manager’s Office identify positions that are hard-
to-recruit and retain and consider reassessing pay for those positions. 

Implementation Date: 18 months 

Corrective Action Plan: The City is already piloting a hiring pay incentive for certain 
positions in the Police Department but is mindful that reassessing 
pay for hard-to-recruit positions involves a complex set of 
considerations, including internal alignment (affecting supervisory 
or related classifications), internal equity, and labor negotiations. 

2.10 To improve communication channels in the City, we recommend the City Manager’s Office assess 
employees’ needs regarding communication from the City Manager’s Office and design a 
communication strategy that addresses those needs. 

 Implementation Date: 1 year 

 Corrective Action Plan: This effort is currently underway as part of the Employer of Choice 
initiative. The Communications Division is currently meeting 
regularly with departments to assess communication needs. 
Additionally, a quarterly Employer of Choice newsletter goes out to 
all employees, in addition to the already-existing Berkeley Matters 
publication available to all employees. The City Manager's Office will 
continue to explore ways to enhance employee communications as 
envisioned by the Employer of Choice initiative. 

 

3.1 To improve hiring procedures, we recommend the City Manager’s Office assess the level of staff and 
resources needed to meet the City’s recruitment and hiring needs. Prioritize filling these positions 
when vacancies in this area fall below a level that would jeopardize the City’s ability to hire quickly. 

Implementation Date: 6 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Recommendations to increase staffing within the Human Resources 
Department were made by the Municipal Resource Group (MRG) as 
part of its Employer of Choice roadmap, and the City Council has 
already allocated three additional positions for HR, two of which 
have been filled; requests for another three positions are pending. 

3.2 To improve hiring procedures, we recommend the City Manager’s Office assess the approval process 
for hiring new employees and identify opportunities to reduce inefficiencies. 

Implementation Date: 6 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already re-ordered the sequence in which 
hiring approvals are processed but will seek out further 
opportunities to enhance efficiencies. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

45 
 

3.3 To improve hiring procedures, we recommend Human Resources develop and execute a plan to 
modernize recruitment and hiring using social media and community engagement. 

Implementation Date: 1 year 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already commenced these efforts pursuant to 
the Employer of Choice initiative. With funding allocated by Council, 
the department is in the process of issuing a Request for Proposal to 
engage a marketing firm that will provide a full suite of recruitment 
services on digital platforms and social media in order to broaden 
outreach to high-caliber candidates of diverse backgrounds. 

3.4 To improve hiring procedures, we recommend Human Resources communicate standard procedures 
and trainings for NEOGOV and the City’s hiring process to all department heads and hiring 
managers. 

Implementation Date: 6 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already designed trainings on the use of 
NEOGOV for maximized efficiency in the hiring process, including 
the scheduling of interviews and the issuance of e-offers and e-
reference checks. HR has conducted this training for the hiring 
managers of the largest departments, including Public Works, 
Planning, and Health, Housing & Community Services (HHCS), and 
will roll it to out all remaining departments before the end of the 
calendar year. 

3.5 To improve hiring procedures, we recommend Human Resources improve the employee onboarding 
process so employees have the tools and information they need to do their jobs. 

Implementation Date: 6 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already automated the onboarding process so 
that new employees can submit pre-employment paperwork, make 
benefits selections, and review City policies electronically. Within the 
next six months, HR will develop and implement a broader 
“Welcome to Berkeley” onboarding initiative designed to ease new 
employees into their jobs and provide them with all necessary tools 
for success. 

 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

46 
 

4.1 To improve the telework policy, we recommend the City Manager’s Office identify ways of reducing 
unused space in city buildings to save on overhead costs. This initiative may require additional 
resources beyond city staff. 

Implementation Date: 2+ years 

Corrective Action Plan: In order to be implemented citywide, this recommendation would 
need significant funding and external resources allocated. Currently, 
the City is making incremental progress on exploring more efficient 
use of space on a department-by-department basis. 

4.2 To improve the telework policy, we recommend the City Manager’s Office expand the citywide 
telework policy to include elements that align with best practices. This can include eligibility, 
employee accountability, equipment requests, telework training, and justifications for denying 
employee requests to telework. 

Implementation Date: 6 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Efforts are already underway in this regard, as the consulting firm 
Municipal Resource Group (MRG) is preparing a Hybrid Workplace 
Best Practice Guide as a supplement to its Employer of Choice 
roadmap. 

 

5.1 To improve internal data systems, we recommend Human Resources clean up personnel data in 
ERMA to ensure all employee data is accurate. 

Implementation Date: 6 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already completed the bulk of this work but 
will continually review and refine data in order to ensure maximum 
accuracy. 

5.2 To improve internal data systems, we recommend Human Resources develop standardized 
procedures for entering and managing personnel data in ERMA. 

Implementation Date: 6 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already implemented methods of 
standardizing data input and management, and will continue to 
refine them while navigating limitations with the ERMA system 
itself. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

47 
 

5.3 To improve internal data systems, we recommend Human Resources produce reports that can be 
used to inform retention and hiring efforts, which may include data on vacancies, recruitments, 
turnover, or other useful data. Human Resources should also report to City Council on staff vacancies 
by department and how long those positions have been vacant. 

Implementation Date: 6 months 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources has already undertaken this effort by engaging a 
data consultant to design reports and dashboards in ERMA and in 
NEOGOV; however, limitations in those systems (particularly 
ERMA) pose impediments to this effort. Departments do provide 
their vacancy rates when they complete department presentations 
during budget and finance development each year. 

5.4 To improve internal data systems, we recommend Human Resources consistently conduct exit 
surveys or interviews and share results with departments. 

Implementation Date: 2 years 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources currently sends out exit surveys but lacks capacity 
for robust follow through, analysis, and subsequent dialogue with 
departments. Meaningful implementation of this recommendation 
would require a modest investment in staffing (e.g., a dedicated part-
time HR intern). 

5.5 To better manage retention efforts, we recommend City Council determine the appropriate city 
department or other body to regularly collect data on employee satisfaction. The department should 
consider publishing the data and comparing it to previous years to help inform retention efforts. 
Data collection should include employees’ perceptions about diversity, equity, inclusion, and 
accessibility in the workplace.    

Implementation Date: 2 years 

Corrective Action Plan: The Special Projects team working on the Employer of Choice 
initiative will collaborate with the to-be-hired DEI officer to 
implement a methodology to collect and report back on employees' 
perceptions about diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility in the 
workplace. This will be additional to the work being done to address 
the items presented in the Employer of Choice roadmap produced by 
MRG. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

48 
 

5.6 To improve reporting on diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility, we recommend the City 
Manager’s Office and Human Resources resume producing Year End Workforce Reports on 
demographic workforce trends at least annually. Consider expanding Human Resources’ 
performance measure reported in the budget book to capture diversity at all levels of city 
employment. 

Implementation Date: 1 year 

Corrective Action Plan: Human Resources will resume reporting on demographic trends and 
diversity levels as part of its data analytics efforts referenced in 
Recommendation No. 5.3.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

49 
 

Methodology and Statement of Compliance 
We audited the City’s approach to staff retention, including reviewing relevant Human Resources (HR) 

department’s operations for fiscal years  through . We performed a risk assessment of HR’s practices 

and procedures to identify potential internal control weaknesses, including fraud risks, within the context of 

our audit objectives. This included a review of selected policies and procedures, as well as interviews with 

subject matter experts, HR staff, department directors, and current and former employees.  

 

To gain an understanding of HR’s operations and internal controls and to achieve our audit objectives, we 

reviewed the following: 

 Survey responses from a satisfaction survey we designed and sent to current employees, 

 Survey responses from an exit survey we designed and sent to former employees who voluntarily 

resigned or retired, 

 Survey responses from an exit survey that the HR department sent, 

 Internal staffing data from the City’s current employee information system ERMA (January  – 

June ) and FUND$ (July  – December ), 

 NEOGOV data on the City’s new hires and promotions, 

 Previous audit findings and recommendations regarding understaffing and vacancies, 

 City of Berkeley HR policies and procedures, 

 National media on public sector hiring and retention issues, 

 Professional literature and best practices for hiring and retaining employees, including telework, 

 Staffing data and telework policies from local jurisdictions to compare to Berkeley, and 

 Other audits in comparison cities related to employee retention. 

 

We also conducted interviews with: 

 HR staff members, including the former Interim HR Director, and the current HR Director, 

 Current and former city employees, 

 Union representatives from City of Berkeley bargaining groups, 

 City department directors, 

 City leadership including the City Manager and City Councilmembers, 

 A climate policy consultant, and 

 The Chair of the Personnel Board.  

 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

50 
 

We analyzed: 

 Satisfaction and exit survey responses, 

 Vacancy rate data from department directors, 

 Resignation and retirement data from FUND$ and ERMA, 

 NEOGOV data on the City’s new hires and promotions, 

 Commuter carbon emissions data, and 

 Year End Workforce Reports from fiscal years - , i.e. reports produced by the City showing 

demographic trends in the City’s workforce. 

 

We included quotes from current employees, former employees, and department directors. To protect 

confidentiality, we did not include any identifiable information. Further, each quote featured in this report was 

only edited for clarity, length, or grammar.  

Data Reliability 

There are inherent limitations in using survey data to gauge employee satisfaction. However, even with those 

limitations, providing an anonymous survey was the most effective and efficient way to hear from a large 

number of current and former employees who could respond freely. During our audit, we kept the following in 

mind: ) Many factors can impact a respondent’s frame of mind when completing the survey, which could 

influence their responses either positively or negatively; ) People who are dissatisfied are more apt to reply to 

the survey and ongoing changes within the City would impact perceptions day to day; ) Unless the survey 

achieves a  percent response rate, some opinions may not be reflected in the quantitative analysis of 

responses; and ) Despite our extensive preparation, respondents could have interpreted questions differently 

than we intended. Because the overall goal was to set a baseline of the morale at a point in time, we determined 

that the above factors would not create a significant risk to the accuracy of our audit findings, conclusions, and 

recommendations. The number of responses for both surveys was a strong indicator that the results were 

reliable, and the responses agreed with comments made during interviews, including discussions with 

employees, supervisors, and management.  

We assessed the reliability of ERMA, FUND$, and NEOGOV data by reviewing it for completeness, 

appropriateness, and consistency. We determined that ERMA data is reliable for the audit’s purpose, with 

some caveats. ERMA data was reliable for pulling employee reports including resignation, retirement, hire, and 

service dates after January st, . We determined the reliability of ERMA data by interviewing data owners 

and performing logic testing on the data. We could not confirm the accuracy of the vacancy rate or turnover 

data and therefore could not use it for analysis or use past employee data to analyze retention trends.  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

51 
 

We also assessed the reliability of employee payroll data in the FUND$ system and determined it is sufficiently 

reliable for the purposes of our analysis. We assessed reliability by reviewing two prior data reliability 

assessments from previous audits, as both audits used FUND$ as a data source and found it to be reliable.  

We additionally determined that NEOGOV data are sufficiently reliable for the audit’s purpose. We determined 

data reliability by interviewing knowledgeable data owners, reviewing data manuals, and performing logic 

testing on the data. We noted a limitation in the data: there are nine new hires and five promotions whose start 

date was before their requisition create date. According to HR, these are employees who were hired before 

being entered into NEOGOV. Therefore, their requisition was created after their start date. These limitations 

did not significantly impact our analysis.  

Independence 

Payroll Audit is a Division of the City Auditor’s Office. The Payroll Audit Division performs citywide payroll 

functions and is a module leader for the payroll/personnel module used to record payroll costs. HR and 

department payroll clerks are responsible for entering employee data and collecting relevant documentation. 

Payroll Audit is not responsible for verifying the employee’s time or the use of budget codes by the department. 

Further, Payroll Audit limits its review of sufficient documentation for the reported time or transaction; HR 

and department payroll clerks are responsible for making adjustments to ensure the accuracy of the 

information in the system.  

To reduce the threat to our independence, we limited our work to exclude areas overseen by our office. We also 

selected data from closed payroll periods that was in read only status.  

We relied on previous consultations with representatives from the U.S. Government Accountability Office to 

assess the safeguards we put in place. Based on this, we determined that the safeguards mentioned above 

reduced the identified threats to our independence to an acceptable level to proceed with the audit. 

Statement of Compliance 

We conducted this performance audit in accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards. 

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to 

provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the 

evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

52 
 

Appendix I. Satisfaction Survey Responses 
To measure employee satisfaction levels, we surveyed current employees between August 30 and September 

18, 2022. We received 771 total responses out of 2094 active employees, including part-time and temporary 

staff, with a response rate of 37 percent. We measured most responses on a scale from “agree”, “somewhat 

agree”, “neutral”, “somewhat disagree” to “disagree”. When displaying results, we combined the “agree” and 

“somewhat agree” responses, along with the “disagree” and “somewhat disagree” responses for simplicity. 

Certain questions were only accessible based on the respondent’s previous answers, for example, only 

supervisors could access questions about their supervising experience. To ensure employee confidentiality, the 

information in this report does not include individually identifiable information from the survey responses. 

Responses are displayed below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

53 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

54 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

55 
 

Appendix II. Exit Survey Responses 
We asked employees who left the City to respond to an exit survey. We sent the exit survey to former employees 

who voluntarily left the City—indicated by a termination reason marked as resignation, retirement, medical 

separation or disability retirement in ERMA—between fiscal years  and . Respondents could fill out 

the online survey using SurveyMonkey, or they could fill out the paper survey that we mailed to their address. 

We received a total of  responses out of  former employees who received the survey. We decided to 

conduct our own exit survey because the City received only  responses to its exit survey between October 

 and June . 

What were your reasons for leaving the City of Berkeley? 

 

Note: We asked survey respondents to provide their five primary reasons for leaving the City out of the options above. This 
figure shows the percent of respondents who listed each reason as one of their primary reasons for leaving.  

Source:  exit survey 

 

46.5%

36.6%

35.9%

35.2%

27.5%

27.5%

23.2%

19.0%

17.6%

14.8%

14.1%

11.3%

10.6%

9.2%

7.7%

6.3%

6.3%

4.2%

0.7%

Organizational culture problems
Poor work environment

Retirement
Poor relationship with supervisor

New job opportunity
Inadequate promotional opportunities

Unmanageable workload
Other

Personal or family
Health reasons
Salary reasons

Poor relationship with co-workers
Workplace safety

Relocation
Commute reasons

Lack of telework
Poor relationship with subordinates

Benefits reasons
Instability (layoffs, cuts)

Percent of Respondents



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

56 
 

How would you rate your experience working for the City? 

 

 

 
 

 

Note: Figure is an average of all responses. Respondents were asked to rate their experience from worst ( ) to best ( ). 

Source:  exit survey 

 

What did you like best about working for the City? 

Source: 2022 exit survey 

 

Did you receive an exit survey upon leaving the City? 

 

 

 
Source: 2022 exit survey 

 

75%15%10%

Yes Unsure No

16.3%

14.9%

14.5%

14.4%

11.6%

8.4%

6.8%

3.7%

3.5%

3.0%

1.6%

1.4%

The public service aspect

The benefits

Your co-workers

Your job

The salary

Your department

Your supervisor

Your subordinates

Your training on the job

The organization

Telework opportunities

Management

Percent of Responses



   
Staff Shortages: City Services Constrained by Staff Retention Challenges and Delayed Hiring 

57 
 

Appendix III. Satisfaction Survey Respondents by 
Department 
We asked City of Berkeley employees to respond to a job satisfaction survey. In order to determine how well the 

responses represented the opinions of employees in different departments, we compared survey response data 

to citywide data. Employees from every department responded to the survey. 

 
Figure . Full-Time Employees Who Responded to Satisfaction Survey by Department 
Compared to Citywide Data 

Note: This figure reflects satisfaction survey respondents who indicated they were a full-time employee; some respondents 
skipped this question and therefore may not be captured in this graphic. Citywide data captures all full-time employees as 
of September , . 

Source:  satisfaction survey and ERMA 

 



 

 

Mission Statement 

Promoting transparency and accountability in Berkeley government. 
 

 

Audit Team 

Caitlin Palmer, Senior Auditor 
Erin Mullin, Senior Auditor 
Kendle Kuechle, Auditor I 
Pauline Miller, Auditor I 
 
 
City Auditor 
Jenny Wong 
 
Office of the City Auditor 
Phone: (510) 981-6750 
Email: CityAuditor@berkeleyca.gov 
Website: https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-audits 
 
 
Copies of our audit reports are available at  
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-audits/city-auditor-reports 
 
 
 
Cover photographs provided by City of Berkeley and Freepik 
 

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-audits
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-audits/city-auditor-reports?page=1
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/city-audits/city-auditor-reports


What's New
RECRUITMENTS - PAGE 3

 
PROMOTIONAL JOB OPPORTUNITIES - PAGE 7

 
CITYWIDE TRAININGS - PAGE 10

 
POLICE RECRUITMENT & RETENTION 

INCENTIVE PROGRAM - PAGE 14

JULY 28, 2023

THE BI-WEEKLY HR NEWSLETTER FOR THE CITY OF BERKELEY

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 1



HR CONTACTS JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 2

HR ADMINISTRATION

ARAM KOUYOUMDJIAN, HR DIRECTOR

JESSICA LEWIS, ADMIN SUPPORT
JELEWIS@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6824

DAWUD BREWER, EMPLOYEE RELATIONS MANAGER
DBREWER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6821

MONICA WALKER, HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER
MWALKER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6818

EMPLOYEE AND LABOR RELATIONS

DAWUD BREWER
DBREWER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6821

KISMET TENG
KTENG@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6804

BENEFITS

SOPHEA SHEPHARD
SSHEPHARD@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6815

VELMA WALLACE
VWALLACE@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6808

RECRUITMENT, EXAMS & SELECTION

JENEEN MILLER-EDENBURG
JEMILLER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6817

RIO TESS MUSNI
RMUSNI@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6805

ANNA GOOLER
AGOOLER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6820

MICHELLE YOO
MYOO@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6802

SAFETY, ERGONOMICS, CAL/OSHA

KEVIN WALKER
KWALKER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6825

VENUS THOMAS
VTHOMAS@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6819

CITYWIDE TRAINING

TRAINING INQUIRIES
TRAINING@BERKELEYCA.GOV

WILHELMINA PARKER
WPARKER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6823

ALEJANDRA ALONSO
AALONSO@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6801

WORKERS' COMP, ADA, LEAVES OF ABSENCE

CLAIMS: HRWORKERSCOMP@BERKELEYCA.GOV

CARI MCDONALD
CMCDONALD@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6816

LAURA ZURITA
LZURITA@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6812

EEO MATTERS

TAMELA HOPSON-DUDLEY
THOPSON-DUDLEY@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6811

TRANSACTIONS

TIANA DICKSON
TDICKSON@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6814

CASANDRA HUFF
CHUFF@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6894

FEUY SAEPHAN
FSAEPHAN@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6822



Recruitment Reason Type Hourly Rate Opening Date Closing Date

Accounting Office Specialist II Vacancy Competitive $32.80 to $35.72 March 12, 2023 Continuous

Accounting Office Specialist III Vacancy Promotional $37.99 to $41.41 February 21, 2023 Continuous

Accounting Technician Vacancy Promotional $37.38 to $45.00 December 19, 2022 Continuous

Assistant Aquatics
Coordinator

(Req#2023-01107)
Vacancy Competitive $31.82 to $37.01 July 31, 2023 August 14, 2023

Assistant Building & Safety Manager
(Req#2023-01314)

Vacancy Competitive $71.26 to $86.61 July 10, 2023 July 31, 2023

Assistant Civil Engineer Vacancy Competitive $54.86 to $66.35 November 11, 2022 Continuous

Assistant Public Works Engineer Vacancy Competitive $52.49 to $63.22 April 24, 2023 Continuous

Assistant Recreation Coordinator Vacancy Competitive $31.83 to $37.01 Continuous Continuous

Assistant to the City Attorney
(Req#2023-01100)

Vacancy Competitive $66.33 to $87.16 April 24, 2023 Continuous

Associate Civil Engineer Vacancy Competitive $60.43 to $73.02 November 11, 2022 Continuous

Audit Manager
(Req#2023-01315, 2023-01316)

Vacancy Competitive $60.07 to $78.64 July 10, 2023 July 31, 2023

Auditor II
(Req#2023-01325)

Vacancy Competitive $48.42 to $57.49 July 10, 2023 July 31, 2023

Behavioral Health Clinician I/II Vacancy Competitive $41.55 to $53.45 Continuous Continuous

Building Inspector I/II (Certified) Vacancy Competitive
I: $46.09 to $54.68
II: $49.40 to $58.60

April 3, 2023 Continuous

Community Development Project
Coordinator

Promotion Competitive $50.42 to $60.96 August 1, 2022 Continuous

Crime Analyst
(Req#2023-01341)

Vacancy Competitive $47.91 to $56.89 June 26, 2023 August 14, 2023

Customer Service Manager
(Req#2023-01366)

Vacancy Competitive $58.45 to $70.54 July 17, 2023 August 7, 2023

Customer Service
Specialist II

(Req#2022-01002)
Vacancy Competitive $33.58 to $37.21 July 31, 2023 August 21, 2023

Customer Services Specialist III
(Req#2023-01365, 2023-01364)

Vacancy Promotional $37.99 to $41.41 July 17, 2023 August 14, 2023

Deputy City Attorney II/III Vacancy Competitive $67.50 to $95.43 Continuous Continuous

Electrician Vacancy Competitive $48.29 to $52.92 Continuous Continuous

Epidemiologist Vacancy Competitive $41.70 to $50.69 Continuous Continuous

Fire Prevention Inspector (Sworn)
To Establish

a List
Competitive $60.13 to $66.29 Continuous Continuous

Firefighter Paramedic Vacancy Competitive $32.18 to $41.96 Continuous Continuous

Firefighter Paramedic Lateral Vacancy Competitive $32.18 to $41.96 Continuous Continuous

Forestry Climber Supervisor
(Req#2022-01031, 2023-01356)

Vacancy Competitive $47.07 to $49.86 July 17, 2023 August 7, 2023

CLICK
HERE

RECRUITMENTS JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 3

Applications must be submitted no later than 5pm on the closing date. 

For more information about the hiring process and to apply online:

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/jobs


RECRUITMENTS JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 4

Recruitment Reason Type Hourly Rate Opening Date Closing Date

Housing Inspector I (Certified) Vacancy Competitive $41.48 to $49.21 March 20, 2023 Continuous

Junior Public Works Engineer Vacancy Competitive $44.20 to $53.24 April 24, 2023 Continuous

Land Use Planning Manager
(Req#2023-01326)

Vacancy Competitive $75.09 to $89.69 July 17, 2023 August 7, 2023

Landscape Gardener
(Req#2023-01289)

Promotion Competitive $36.31 to $38.55 July 24, 2023 August 14, 2023

Library Specialist II
(Req#2023-01385)

Promotion Competitive $32.90 to $39.52 July 24, 2023 August 11, 2023

Marina Assistant Promotion Competitive $32.96 to $34.94 Continuous Continuous

Mechanic Vacancy Competitive $44.60 to $47.28 Continuous Continuous

Medical Director Vacancy Competitive $90.41 to $102.71 February 13, 2023 Continuous

Mental Health Clinical Supervisor Vacancy Competitive $50.56 to $62.08 July 4, 2022 Continuous

Mental Health Nurse Vacancy Competitive $57.22 to $69.55 July 20, 2020 Continuous

Mid-Level Practitioner Vacancy Competitive $58.04 to $64.35 Continuous Continuous

Office Specialist III Vacancy Promotional
$37.29 to $40.72
$36.84 to $40.49

Continuous Continuous

Paramedic Vacancy Competitive $30.00 to $45.00 Continuous Continuous

Police Officer Lateral Vacancy Competitive $52.76 to $65.67 Continuous Continuous

Police Officer Recruit Vacancy Competitive $43.18 June 20, 2022 Continuous

Program Manager II - IT
(Req#2023-01264)

Vacancy Competitive $64.26 to $77.76 July 10, 2023 July 31, 2023

Psychiatrist Vacancy Competitive $90.52 to $133.73 Continuous Continuous

Public Health Nurse Vacancy Competitive $53.36 to $62.24 Continuous Continuous

Public Safety Dispatcher I Vacancy Competitive $32.18 to $35.17 April 25, 2022 Continuous

Public Safety Dispatcher II Vacancy Competitive $45.98 to $49.90 Continuous Continuous

Registered Environmental Health
Specialist

(Req#2023-01260)
Vacancy Competitive $47.04 to $54.52 July 17, 2023 August 7, 2023

Registered Nurse Vacancy Competitive $51.68 to $57.28 Continuous Continuous

Retired Annuitant Vacancy Competitive $18.33 to $137.21 May 22, 2023 Continuous

Revenue Development Specialist I/II Vacancy Competitive $48.42 to $57.49 December 19, 2022 Continuous

Revenue Development Supervisor Vacancy Competitive $51.63 to $62.41 December 19, 2022 Continuous

Senior Behavioral Health Clinician Promotion Competitive $49.95 to $58.31 September 26, 2022 Continuous

Senior Community Development
Project Coordinator

(Req#2023-01202, 2023-01226)
Vacancy Competitive $58.45 to $70.54 July 17, 2023 August 7, 2023

Senior Information Systems
Specialist

Retirement Competitive $48.56 to $57.87 Continuous Continuous

Senior Management Analyst Vacancy Competitive $53.26 to $64.40 Continuous Continuous

Senior Systems Analyst Vacancy Competitive $57.98 to $70.62 December 27, 2022 Continuous

Supervising Public Health Nurse Vacancy Competitive $62.73 to $73.65 Continuous Continuous

 

Transportation Manager
(Req#2023-01161)

 

Vacancy Competitive $75.26 to $91.48 July 31, 2023 August 21, 2023



VACANCIES JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 5

Classification Reason Department Contact

Accounting Office Specialist II
(Req#2023-01329, 2023-01335)

Vacancy Finance
Gregory Segraves @ 981-6548

Gsegraves@berkeleyca.gov

Accounting Office Specialist III
(Req#2023-01330)

Vacancy Finance
Marla Brignardello @ 981-7236
Mbrignardello@berkeleyca.gov

Accounting Office Specialist Supervisor
(Req#2023-01349)

Promotion Finance
Henry Oyekanmi @ 981-7326
Hoyekanmi@berkeleyca.gov

Associate Planner
(Req#2023-01327)

Vacancy Planning
Alisa Shen @ 981-7409
Ashen@berkeleyca.gov

Community Services Specialist II
(Req# 2023-01363)

Vacancy HHCS
Katherine Hawn @ 981-5411

Khawn@berkeleyca.gov

Library Aide
(Req#2023-01390)

Vacancy Library
Francesca Neveu Gibson

FNeveuGibson@berkeleyca.gov

Library Specialist II
(Req#2023-01385)

Promotion Library
Francesca Neveu Gibson

FNeveuGibson@berkeleyca.gov

Mental Health Clinical Supervisor
(Req#2023-01351)

Promotion HHCS
Zachary Meredith @ 644-6258

Zmeredith@berkeleyca.gov

Paramedic
(Req#2023-01306)

Vacancy Fire
David McPartland @ 981-5590
Dmcpartland@berkeleyca.gov

Public Health Nurse
(Req#2023-01352)

Vacancy HHCS
JoAnn Evangelista @ 981-7710
Jevangelista@berkeleyca.gov

Recreation Coordinator
(Req#2023-01099)

Vacancy PRW
Stephanie Chu @ 981-5146

Schu@berkeleyca.gov

Senior Legal Secretary
(Req#2023-01333, 2023-01381)

Vacancy
Promotion

City Attorney
Farimah Brown @ 981-6985

Fbrown@berkeleyca.gov

Senior Planner
(Req#2023-01400)

Promotion Public Works
Hamid Mostowfi @ 981-6403
Hmostowfi@berkeleyca.gov

Senior Management Analyst
(Req#2023-01225)

Vacancy HHCS
Margot Ernst @ 981-5427
Mernst@berkeleyca.gov

Solid Waste Truck Driver
(Req#2023-01368)

Retirement Public Works
Gary Triplett @ 981-6366
Gtriplett@berkeleyca.gov

To be considered for the vacancies listed below, employees must:

1) Have a career appointment in the specific classification listed AND be on the Transfer List OR
2) Have their name on an active Eligible List OR
3) Have their name on a Reinstatement List.

Please call or email the department contact within one week of the job posting if you meet one
of the above criteria.

To have your name placed on the transfer list:  
CLICK
HERE

Please note: The job information provided here is for the benefit of the City of Berkeley employees ONLY

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/transferjobs


VACANCIES JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 6

Classification Reason Department Contact Duration

Intern
(Req#2023-01392)

Vacancy City Auditor
Jennifer Wong @ 981-6750

jwong@berkeleyca.gov
NTE 1 year

Classification Reason Contact Duration Opening Date Closing Date

No current vacancies. Check back next week!

Temporary vacancies with an eligible list

Temporary vacancies without an eligible list

If you would like to be considered for one of these vacancies please apply online: 

To have your name placed on the transfer list:  

Please note: The job information provided here is for the benefit of the City of Berkeley employees ONLY

If you have a career appointment in the specific classification listed, please apply to be on the
Transfer List AND call or email the department contact person within one week of the job
posting.

CLICK HERE

CLICK HERE

To be considered for the vacancies listed below, employees must:

1) Have a career appointment in the specific classification listed AND be on the Transfer List OR
2) Have their name on an active Eligible List OR
3) Have their name on a Reinstatement List.

Please call or email the department contact within one week of the job posting if you meet one
of the above criteria.

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/transferjobs
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley


Make a significant impact on the transformation of the department
Bring fresh ideas and innovation to the team
Gain valuable experience and develop new skills

Perform specialized accounting tasks including payroll and financial analysis
Contribute to the development and implementation of financial systems and processes
Collaborate with internal stakeholders to ensure compliance with regulations and policies

The Rent Board is seeking an Accounting Office Specialist III for their brand
new finance unit!

Leadership is committed to improving and modernizing operations, and this position will
play a vital role in this work. 

You will have the opportunity to:

Key responsibilities include:

Salary: $79,019.20 - $86,132.80 Annually

CLICK
HERE TO
APPLY!

Gain knowledge about the City and the services we offer
Assist clientele with complex problems
Join a team of helpful staff who care about the community

Equivalent to graduation from high school
Three years of general clerical experience including customer service and public interaction
Must have a general knowledge of all City services

The IT Department seeks candidates for two Temporary Customer Services
Specialist III positions in the 311 Customer Service Call Center!

The 311 Call Center provides a first point of contact for City services. Staff deliver
information to and collect data from community members, businesses, and visitors.

You will have the opportunity to:

Qualifications include:

Salary: $79,019.20 - $86,132.80 Annually

PROMOTIONAL RECRUITMENTS JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE  7

SPOTLIGHTSPOTLIGHT

Thinking about the next step in your career?

Click here to view all current promotional opportunities!

Promotional Job OpportunitiesPromotional Job Opportunities

CLICK
HERE TO
APPLY!

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/jobs/3882550/accounting-office-specialist-iii
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/promotionaljobs
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/jobs/3940816/customer-services-specialist-iii


Appointments

Name Classification Department

Alex Peña Mechanic Public Works

Bradley Alberts Vector Control Technician HHCS

Morgan Fjord Associate Management Analyst Library

Eric Cabana Building Inspector I Planning

Nancy Singh Office Specialist II Planning

Cielo Franco Office Specialist II Planning

Avril Rockwood Permit Specialist Planning

Anjelia Maloney Public Safety Dispatcher I Police

Brandy Sacks Accounting Office Specialist II Planning

Promotions

Name Classification Department

Keith May Deputy Fire Chief Fire

Anthony Montero Police Officer Police

Chaz Torres Police Officer Recruit Police

Andrew Arrindell Fire Apparatus Operator Fire

Brian McGrath Senior Systems Analyst IT

Retirements

Linda McDonald Library Specialist II Library

Danette Perry Parking Services Manager Public Works

Daniel Gallagher Senior Forestry Supervisor PRW

Darnell Bradd Solid Waste Truck Driver Public Works

Kandi Gill Fire Apparatus Operator Fire

Yolanda Gorman Accounting Technician Finance

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 8

APPOINTMENTS,
PROMOTIONS, & RETIREMENTS

JULY 28, 2023



City of Berkeley employees who are CalPERS members with PEPRA status have received
notification from CalPERS about contribution rate increases for FY 2023-24. Increases
took effect on July 1, 2023 and appeared on affected employees’ paychecks on July 14,
2023. The applicable rates for the City of Berkeley are as follows:

Please be mindful that these rates are set by CalPERS. Employers, including the City of
Berkeley, do not have any control over them. Click here to see the announcement about
the rate increase on the CalPERS website. 

The increase has been offset for some employees by a one percent (1%) reduction in the
employee share of additional cost (an additional amount to the rate determined by
CalPERS and negotiated in the terms of the memoranda of understanding between the
City and unions).

The reduction took effect on June 25, 2023 for PEPRA employees within SEIU CSU, SEIU
MC, and PEU Local 1, in accordance with the current memoranda of understanding with
those groups. Unrepresented employees saw a similar 1% reduction in the employee
share of additional cost.

FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24

Miscellaneous 7.75% 8.25%

Safety Police 12.50% 13.50%

Safety Fire 11.75% 11.75%

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 9

PEPRA RATE INCREASE JULY 28, 2023

https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Get+the+details&utm_campaign=membernews-05-2023-1A
https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Get+the+details&utm_campaign=membernews-05-2023-1A
https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/
https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Get+the+details&utm_campaign=membernews-05-2023-1A
https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Get+the+details&utm_campaign=membernews-05-2023-1A


Topic Audience Location Completion Deadline

Harassment Awareness

All City Staff Online self-paced December 31, 2023Ethics Awareness

Active Shooter Awareness

Code of Conduct Series
All supervisors and

managers
Online self-paced December 31, 2023

Date Topic Audience Location

August 10, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Word 1
Day 1

All City Staff Zoom - click here

August 17, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Word 1
Day 2

All City Staff Zoom - click here

August 24, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Excel 1
Day 1

All City Staff Zoom - click here

August 31, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Excel 1
Day 2

All City Staff Zoom - click here

September 14, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Excel 2
Day 1

All City Staff Zoom - click here

September 21, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Excel 2
Day 2

All City Staff Zoom - click here

September 28, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Outlook Calendar,
Contacts & Organizing Emails

All City Staff Zoom - click here

CITYWIDE TRAININGS JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 10

BEGINNING IN THE MONTH OF JULY, ALL INTERNALLY-DELIVERED CITY OF BERKELEY TRAININGS ARE TEMPORARILY
SUSPENDED AS WE EVALUATE THE MOST EFFECTIVE DELIVERY STRATEGY. 

 

FOR QUESTIONS PLEASE EMAIL TRAINING@BERKELEYCA.GOV

UPCOMING CLASSES

CLICK HERECITYWIDE MANDATORY TRAININGS:

CLICK HERE2023 NEW EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION SCHEDULE:

Please register in advance using the Zoom link associated with each class. After registering, you will
receive a confirmation email from Zoom containing information about joining the meeting.

https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZYlfu-qrTwvGd1L-k5evzUclBwGS-ltOiYx#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZYlfu-qrTwvGd1L-k5evzUclBwGS-ltOiYx#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZ0sd-uvqjMoHdPKG6eADtr5ti5l7KCdXwi2#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZ0sd-uvqjMoHdPKG6eADtr5ti5l7KCdXwi2#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZwrduyuqTsoH9NFgCzUuoRZYL9o2mm3Avuw
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZ0sd-uvqjMoHdPKG6eADtr5ti5l7KCdXwi2#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZMvduiuqTsuHdSwghJdOyE-SLiGAin2Hgpa
https://cityofberkeley.lms.navexglobal.com/
https://cityofberkeley.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/hr/Documents/All%20Employees/NEW%20EMPLOYEE%20NEW%20SUPERVISOR%20ORIENTATION%202023.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=NAdj9u


CLICK HERE

CATASTROPHIC LEAVE
DONATION

JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 11

CATASTROPHIC LEAVE DONATION REQUEST FOR DEON CATLETT

DEON CATLETT HAS BEEN DEALING WITH A SERIOUS MEDICAL CONDITION AND HAS EXHAUSTED ALL OF
HIS AVAILABLE LEAVE. ANY DONATIONS OF LEAVE WOULD BE GREATLY APPRECIATED BY DEON.

IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO DONATE LEAVE, PLEASE CHECK YOUR MOU FOR ALLOWABLE
DONATIONS AND COMPLETE THE LEAVE TRANSFER FORM:

CATASTROPHIC LEAVE DONATION REQUEST FOR NICOLE TRAYLOR

NICOLE TRAYLOR HAS BEEN DEALING WITH A SERIOUS MEDICAL CONDITION AND HAS EXHAUSTED ALL
OF HER AVAILABLE LEAVE. ANY DONATIONS OF LEAVE WOULD BE GREATLY APPRECIATED BY NICOLE.

http://webserver4/bmatters/getattachment.asp?recid=563
https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/jobs/union-agreements-and-employee-manuals


Creating an emergency fund
Reducing your high-interest debt
Saving for larger purchases

EMPOWER 457 - CITY OF BERKELEY DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
 

How’s your financial wellness stacking up?

Financial wellness is important and means different things to different people. Many
influences in your life can affect your finances — especially your ability to save for your
future. To help keep your long-term strategy on track, consider how you can improve
your approach to the following important areas:
 

EMPOWER 457 &
CALPERS 457

JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 12

SCHEDULE AN APPOINTMENT ONLINE:

OR EMAIL JOSE.ANAYA@EMPOWER.COM

CLICK
HERE

Contributions made through automatic payroll deductions
Pre-tax contributions and tax-deferred growth

With the CalPERS 457 plan, you benefit from:

Learn more by scheduling a one-on-one meeting!

SCHEDULE AN APPOINTMENT ONLINE:

OR EMAIL NANCY.GARRITY@VOYA.COM
OR CALL 888-713-8244 EXT 2

CLICK
HERE

https://joseanaya.empowermytime.com/#/
https://hso8vkeybn.timetap.com/


WORKING
ADVANTAGE SAVINGS

JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 13

Access to Working Advantage is being offered to City of Berkeley employees as a convenience and participation is purely
voluntary. Any products, services, or discounts that may be made available to you through Working Advantage are

provided by Working Advantage and its partners, and not by the City of Berkeley. The City of Berkeley does not endorse
or guarantee the products, services, or any other information contained in or made available by or through Working
Advantage. The City of Berkeley does not exercise any editorial control over the information you may find at these

locations. Please be aware that by clicking the link or otherwise engaging with Working Advantage, you may be agreeing
or otherwise subjecting yourself to Working Advantage’s Terms of Use, Terms of Sale, and/or Privacy Policy. 

Your work-life balance and general well-being are as important to us as the work you
contribute. That's why we’re excited to offer your savings marketplace, your one-stop shop
for exclusive and convenient savings on the products, services, and experiences you know
and love. NOTE: Use your personal email address when you sign up! This will allow you to
access at your leisure (household members can use the site as well).

Savings Website

CLICK HERE

Terms of Use

CLICK HERE

Terms of Sale

CLICK HERE

Privacy Policy

CLICK HERE

Tutorial Video

CLICK HERE

https://cobsavings.savings.workingadvantage.com/
https://cobsavings.savings.workingadvantage.com/
https://www.workingadvantage.com/terms.php
https://www.workingadvantage.com/terms_sale.php
https://www.workingadvantage.com/privacy.php
https://cityofberkeley.sharepoint.com/:v:/r/sites/hr/Documents/All%20Employees/Working%20Advantage%20Savings%20Program/Working%20Advantage%20-%20Tutorial.mp4?csf=1&web=1&e=ajgRzd


BPD RECRUITMENT &
RETENTION INCENTIVE

JULY 28, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 14

Do you know someone who would be a great dispatcher or police officer?

Refer them and you could earn up to $7,500!

The Berkeley Police Department Recruitment & Retention Incentive Program is open to all City
of Berkeley employees who refer a dispatch or police officer applicant who applies on or after
July 1, 2023, and who successfully gets hired.

Refer the applicant to joinberkeleypd.com where they can submit their interest in the position
and list the name of a City of Berkeley referring employee. This is how we will track referrals,
so ensure that the candidate enters your name! This is the only way you will get credit for the
referral. 

See the pay breakdown below:

If you refer a candidate, please also complete the Employee Referral form: CLICK HERE

--> Submit the form to Lisa Stangl in Personnel and Training at Lstangl@berkeleyca.gov

Questions? Contact Lieutenant Melanie Turner in Personnel and Training at x5970 or
Mturner@berkeleyca.gov

 Recruitment
Incentive

Retention Incentive Referral Program Total Incentive

Entry-Level Police
Officer

$4,000 Upon hire  

$4,000 Upon completion
of Field Training Program,
$4,000 Upon completion

of probation

$2,500 to referring employee upon
hire and additional $2,500 to
referring employee upon new

employee completing probation

New Hire: $12,000,
Referring Employee:

$5,000

Lateral I
(Academy

Graduate) Police
Officer

$5,000 Upon hire

$5,000 Upon completion
of Field Training Program,
$5,000 Upon completion

of probation

$2,500 to referring employee upon
hire and additional $2,500 to
referring employee upon new

employee completing probation

New Hire: $15,000,
Referring Employee:

$5,000

Lateral II (Current
Peace Officer)

$10,000 Upon
hire. Pay step

commensurate
with years of
sworn service

$5,000 Upon completion
of Field Training Program,

$10,000 Upon
completion of probation

$2,500 to referring employee upon
hire and additional $5,000 to
referring employee upon new

employee completing probation.

New Hire: $25,000,
Referring Employee:

$7,500

Entry-Level
Public Safety

Dispatcher (PSD I)
$2,500 Upon hire

$2,500 Upon completion  
of probation

$2,500 to referring employee upon
hire and additional $2,500 to
referring employee upon new

employee completing probation

New Hire: $5,000,
Referring Employee:

$5,000

Lateral Public
Safety Dispatcher

(PSD II)
$2,500 Upon hire

$2,500 Upon completion  
of probation

$2,500 to referring employee upon
hire and additional $2,500 to
referring employee upon new

employee completing probation

New Hire: $5,000,
Referring Employee:

$5,000

To read the full program guidelines: CLICK HERE

The Retention Incentive is retroactive to January 1, 2022. All police officers and dispatchers
hired on or after this date will receive their incentive pay based on their progress.

https://joinberkeleypd.com/
https://cityofberkeley.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/hr/Documents/All%20Employees/BPD%20RRIP%20Program/BPD%20RRIP%20Employee%20Referral%20Form.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=LD2Lvu
https://cityofberkeley.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/hr/Documents/All%20Employees/BPD%20RRIP%20Program/RRIP%20Program%20Guidelines.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=zWtWgo


T
o

 re
a

d
 th

e
 fu

ll C
ity

 C
o

u
n

c
il re

p
o

rt
o

n
 th

e
 V

T
O

 P
ro

g
ra

m
 fo

r F
Y

2
4

:
C

L
IC

K
 H

E
R

E

https://berkeleyca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2023-06-27%20Item%2057%20Voluntary%20Time%20Off%20Program.pdf

	ADP6FB.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADP1665.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADP6A41.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADPA40B.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADP1509.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADP6BE5.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADPB479.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	A.2_RPT_Retention Audit.pdf
	Report first pages
	report body
	Report last page




